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Preface 

THE CIVIL RIGHTS MOVEMENT is one of the most significant movements 
in American history. Like a well-acted morality play, the civil rights 
movement changed American society from one that tolerated racism 
and the subjugation of African Americans to one that recognized the 
rights and humanity of all its citizens regardless of color or race. The 
issues raised by the civil rights movement also stimulated a new era of 
democracy and freedom in American society. Both the modern women's 
movement and the antiwar movement of the ig6os were stimulated 
by the civil rights movement. In fact, some Americans participated 
in all three of the great movements of the 1960s and even employed 
the strategies and tactics of mass organizing and civil disobedience so 
prevalent in the civil rights movement in the latter movements. 

Given the importance of the civil rights movement as a major force 
in shaping modern American society, it was quite appropriate that the 
i991 Walter Prescott Webb Memorial Lectures focused on this era in 
American history. This volume contains the papers presented at the 
twenty-sixth annual lecture series held at the University of Texas at 
Arlington. The lectures presented by John Dittmer, George C. Wright, 
and W. Marvin Dulaney followed a basic theme: how participants in 
the civil rights movement sought to end racism, racial discrimination, 
and segregation through mass organizing, direct action, lawsuits, par­
ticipation in politics, and negotiation. While the locales for the move­
ment may have varied, in their quest for equal rights and social jus­
tice, the participants in the civil rights movement used essentially the 
same strategies and tactics. 

The scholars in this volume have made significant contributions 
to the field of African-American history. In addition, two are nation­
ally recognized scholars for their work on the civil rights movement. 
Clayborne Carson, who introduces the volume, is professor of history 
and director/editor of the Martin Luther King, Jr., Paper Project at 
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Stanford University. He has published In Struggle: SNCC and the Black 
Awakening of the 1960s and Malcolm X: The FBI File. 

John Dittmer is professor of history and chair of the Department 
of History at DePauw University in Indiana. He has published Black 
Georgia in the Progressive Era and served as a consultant on the award­
winning documentary series on the civil rights movement, "Eyes on 
the Prize." 

George C. Wright is professor of history and vice-provost at the 
University of Texas, Austin. He has published articles in the Journal 
of Negro History, Journal of American History, and the Filson Club 
Quarterly. He has published two books on African-American history 
in Kentucky: Life behind a Veil: Blacks in Louisville, Kentucky, 1865-
1930, and Racial Violence in Kentucky, 1865-1940: Lynchings, Mob 
Rule and "Legal Lynchings." 

W. Marvin Dulaney is assistant professor of history at the Univer­
sity of Texas at Arlington and co-editor of this volume. He has pub­
lished articles on African-American history in Texas in Legacies and 
the Houston Review. His first book, Black Police in America, is forth­
coming. 

Kathleen Underwood is co-editor of this volume and associate pro­
fessor of history at the University of Texas at Arlington. She is a so­
cial historian of the American West and has published Town Building 
on the Colorado Frontier. She also co-edited volume twenty-three of 
the Webb lecture series, Essays on Sunbelt Cities and Recent Urban 
America. 

A number of people contributed to the completion of this volume 
and the success of the Webb lectures series. The series continues to 
benefit from the support of C. B. Smith, Sr., an Austin businessman 
and former student of Walter Prescott Webb who generously estab­
lished the Webb Endowment Fund and made possible the publication 
of the lectures. Jenkins and Virginia Garrett have also been perennial 
supporters of the Webb Lectures. Recently, the Webb lecture series 
has received major support from the Rudolf Hermanns' Endowment 
for the Liberal Arts. Webb Committee Chair Stephen Maizlish offered 
considerable assistance in planning and arranging the lectures. De­
partment head Kenneth R. Philp also offered invaluable leadership 
and guidance. Harry Robinson of the Dallas Museum of African­
American Life and Culture graciously provided financial support for 
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the lectures. President Wendell Nedderman also provided both finan­
cial support and the hospitality of his home. 

We dedicate this volume to our late colleague and friend Ed­
ward W. Chester, who died in the fall of 1990. Professor Chester was 
a prolific writer, an aficionado of music and theater, and a keen base­
ball fan. His gruff demeanor hid a kind heart, and we miss him. 

W. Marvin Dulaney 
Kathleen Underwood 
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CLAYBORNE CARSON 

Introduction 

ThE ESSAYS that follow demonstrate the difficulty of defining bound­
aries for studies of the civil rights movement. Rather than narrowly 
focusing on the major civil rights leaders and organizations, the most 
interesting new work has examined the sometimes ambiguous relation­
ship between leadership at the national level and localized social move­
ments. Civil rights reform has increasingly been seen in the context 
of broader, long-term changes in American racial relations. Without 
discounting the importance of the civil rights legislation passed dur­
ing the ig6os, scholars have also begun to acknowledge that the African­
American freedom struggle accomplished more than the elimination 
of racial barriers. The mass militancy that overturned the Jim Crow 
system brought about a transformation of traditional social relation­
ships and cultural norms. In addition to changes in the legal status 
of black Americans, the freedom struggle achieved profound changes 
in racial consciousness. 

The impressive amount of new scholarship appearing in this field 
suggests the enormous range of possibilities for innovative research. 
Recent studies of the modern era in African-American politics have 
devoted less attention to national civil rights leaders and organizations 
and more to transformations of racial consciousness. 1 Even studies of 
Martin Luther King, Jr., have become increasingly informed by an 
understanding of his roots in African-American religious traditions and 
of his occasionally tenuous ties to the grassroots protest movements 
that tested his leadership. 2 More generally, the best new work has 
abandoned a narrow focus on legal and political reform and has begun 
to examine broader social, cultural, and intellectual themes. The civil 
rights movement is increasingly understood as related to the long-term 
development of African-American thought and institutions and as an 
aspect of ongoing changes in American race relations. The outpour-
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ing of recent studies ensures that the field will remain one of the most 
intellectually exciting areas of historical research. 

As scholars have broadened their range of inquiry, they have de­
bated about starting and ending points for their studies. Some accounts 
of the modern African-American struggle have indicated that it be­
gan in 1954 with the Supreme Court's Brown v. Board of Education 
decision or with Rosa Parks's refusal in December, 1955, to give up her 
seat on a Montgomery city bus. Or that it ended with the passage of 
the 1965 Voting Rights Act or with the assassination of Martin Luther 
King, Jr. A listing of titles of historical narratives in the field reveals 
still other chronological boundaries: Robert H. Brisbane, The Black 
Vanguard: Origins of the Negro Social Revolution, 1900-1960 (1970); 
Thomas R. Brooks, Walls Come Tumbling Down: A History of the 
Civil Rights Movement, 1940-1970 (1974); Juan Williams, Eyes on the 
Prize: American Civil Rights Years, 1954-1965 (1987); Harvard Sitkoff, 
The Struggle for Black Equality, 1954- 1980 (1981) . 

The tendency to categorize events according to a chronology of 
nationally significant events is understandable but nonetheless mislead­
ing when applied to an era of locally based struggles. As contempo­
rary scholars shift their focus from the handful of civil rights events 
that received national press coverage to analyses of movements in par­
ticular communities, they have employed a variety of appropriate 
chronological frameworks. William Chafe, Civilities and Civil Rights: 
Greensboro, North Carolina, and the Black Struggle for Freedom 
(1980); David R. Colburn, Racial Change and Community Crisis: St. 
Augustine, Florida, 1877-1980 (1985); and Robert J. Norrell, Reaping 
the Whirlwind: The Civil Rights Movement in Tuskegee (1985), each 
demonstrated continuities linking the pre-Brown era with the years 
after King's assassination. 

Studies that examine the civil rights movement in particular lo­
calities reveal that each movement has a distinctive history. The nar­
ratives by Chafe, Colburn, and Norrell are shaped by local rather than 
national events and reflect the idiosyncratic c1iaracteristics of local 
rather than national leaders and groups. In the three communities in­
vestigated by these scholars, King and other nationally known civil 
rights leaders played only minor roles in the sustained movements that 
occurred. The daily lives of residents of these communities were af­
fected as much by concessions gained from local white officials and 
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from the development of local movement institutions as by passage 
of the 1964 Civil Rights Act and the 1965 Voting Rights Act. Rather 
than assuming that localized mass movements sought to fall in line 
with a national agenda of civil rights legislation, community studies 
raise questions about the complex interactions between local and na­
tional concerns. They remind us that the most important changes in 
race relations during the period after World War II have been those 
which affected the everyday lives of African Americans and altered 
or transformed their world views. 

The states and communities discussed in this collection of essays 
became the settings for unique movements that reflected geographi­
cally specific patterns of race relations. For example, in the first essay 
John Dittmer examines the Mississippi Freedom Democratic party 
(MFDP), one of the most important and distinctive institutional mani­
festations of the African-American struggle in the deep South. As Ditt­
mer points out, the MFDP's movement origins infused it with radical 
ideas that extended beyond the ideological boundaries of conventional 
liberalism. Seeking to assess the impact of grass-roots activism on the 
Mississippi political structure, he describes the unsuccessful effort of 
activists affiliated with the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Commit­
tee and the Congress of Racial Equality to take control of Mississippi's 
Democratic party. Dittmer demonstrates how "moderate'' black and 
white leaders were able to prevail over radicals as militancy gave way 
to the accommodation of the late ig6os. 

George C. Wright's study notes that in Kentucky, as elsewhere in 
the South, the Jim Crow system had become institutionalized by the 
early years of the twentieth century, but some aspects of Kentucky's 
segregationist system and the black struggle to change that system were 
distinctive. As in other border states, Kentucky's colleges and univer­
sities were desegregated even before the Brown decision, and public 
school integration began in the late i95os when massive resistance was 
being practiced elsewhere in the South. Although Wright does not ex­
plicitly contrast Kentucky's pattern of race relations with that of other 
states, his study provides a basis for such comparisons. Comparative 
studies of the desegregation process are needed in order to determine 
the extent to which variables such as obstinacy of white officials and 
the militancy of black activists determined the pace of racial reform. 

W. Marvin Dulaney's account of the civil rights movement in 
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Dallas echoes Dittmer's observations regarding the positive long-term 
consequences of mass activism. Dulaney demonstrates that "a general 
pattern of apartheid" existed in Dallas, despite its location in a state 
that is often considered outside the South. Tracing African-American 
advancement movements from the i93os through the i97os, he notes 
the continuing tension between black advocates of militancy and con­
frontation and those who relied on conciliation and negotiation. His 
discussion of the process of desegregation in Dallas during the ig6os 
indicates that the less assertive tactics were not as effective in achiev­
ing change as the more aggressive tactics would have been. As a result 
of the decision of black leaders to abjure mass protest activities, he 
concludes, "a legacy of apathy exists among the city's African-American 
population and it has forestalled mobilizing them even for causes and 
issues which directly affect them." 

Taken together, the essays in this volume point out that different 
concepts of chronological boundaries in civil rights studies closely re­
late to alternative conceptions of the nature of the field itself. The most 
significant recent works on the civil rights movement have demonstrated 
that a full understanding of modern African-American political life 
requires an interdisciplinary perspective and a broad notion of the rele­
vant factors to be explained. Sociologist Aldon D. Morris's The Ori­
gins of the Civil Rights Movement: Black Communities Organizing 
for Change (1984), for example, has clarified the role of preexisting 
institutions in preparing the way for the mass protests of the ig6os. 
Although he focuses on Martin Luther King, Jr., Taylor Branch in his 
Pulitzer prize-winning Parting the Waters similarly deepens our un­
derstanding of the social roots and diverse leadership of the modern 
African-American freedom struggle. 

Narrowly understood, the civil rights movement was an effort to 
achieve national civil rights reform, but it involved much more than 
that. Like any social movement, it generated emergent norms and 
values. Civil rights reforms removed barriers to the freedom of Afri­
can Americans, but the transformation of racial consciousness sym­
bolized by the Black Power slogan affected many blacks as much as 
did changes in legal rights. Participants were transformed in profound 
ways through their experiences in a sustained social struggle. They 
assumed new roles and aspirations as they lived within movement 



Introduction 7 

communities. Small-scale protests to end segregation in public facili­
ties and to achieve new civil rights legislation became a mass move­
ment to alter all aspects of black-white relations. Discontent with the 
status quo in race relations fostered intellectual ferment within black 
communities and ultimately brought about a profound transforma­
tion in African-American political and cultural consciousness. The 
modern civil rights movement, which struggled to break down racial 
barriers, evolved into an African-American freedom struggle seeking 
to raise fundamental questions about race and destiny. 

By transforming the consciousness of black participants, African­
American struggles marked a major historical turning point. Perhaps 
the most important area of future research, therefore, is the relation­
ship between modern African-American movements and the varied 
movements that continue to transform the world during an era in which 
class-conscious movements have had a declining significance. Impor­
tant recent studies have linked the black movement to the emergence 
of a modern women's liberation movement and to other identity-based 
movements. 3 Such studies remind us of the fact that African-American 
movements have always been a stimulus for broadly based movements 
to expand conceptions of freedom and democracy beyond the restricted 
ideological boundaries that would have prevailed otherwise. 

NOTES 

i. Cf. Clayborne Carson, Jn Struggle: SNCC and the Black Awakening of the 
i96os (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, i981); Aldon D. Morris, The Origins of 
the Civil Rights Movement: Black Communities Organizing for Change (New York: 
Free Press, i984); George Lipsitz, A Life in the Struggle: Ivory Perry and the Culture 
of Opposition (Philadelphia: Temple University Press, ig88); James H. Cone, Martin 
& Malcolm & America: A Dream or a Nightmare (Maryknoll, N.Y.: Orbis Books, i991). 
For a survey of this literature, see Martin Luther King, Jr., Papers Project, A Guide 
to Research on Martin Luther King, Jr., and the Modern Black Freedom Struggle (Stan­
ford: Stanford University Libraries, i989). 

2. Cf. David L. Lewis, King: A Critical Biography (New York: Praeger, i970); 
Stephen B. Oates, Let the Trumpet Sound: The Life of Martin Luther King, Jr. (New 
York: Harper & Row, i982); David J. Garrow, Bearing the Cross: Martin Luther King 
and the Southern Christian Leadership Conference (New York: William Morrow & Co., 
ig86); Taylor Branch, Parting the Waters: America in the King Years, i954- 63 (New 
York: Simon & Schuster, ig88); Lewis V. Baldwin, There Is a Balm in Gilead: The Cul­
tural Roots of Martin Luther King, Jr. (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, i991) . 

3. See, for example, Sara Evans, Personal Politics: The Roots of Womens Libera-
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tion in the Civil Rights Movement and the New Left (New York: Vintage Books, i979); 
Mary King, Freedom Song: A Personal Story of the 1960s Civil Rights Movement (New 
York: William Morrow & Co., ig86); and Michael Omi and Howard Winant, Racial 
Formation in the United States: From the 1960s to the 1980s (New York: Routledge & 
Kegan Paul, ig86). 



The Transformation of the 
Mississippi Movement, 1964-68: 
The Rise and Fall of the 
Freedom Democratic Party 

JOHN DITTMER 

THANKS to the excellent documentary series "Eyes on the Prize" and 
a misguided movie called Mississippi Burning, the civil rights move­
ment in Mississippi has, over the past several years, once again become 
a subject of interest and study. For most Americans, Mississippi in the 
ig6os evokes dramatic scenes of courage and confrontation: James Mere­
dith facing down the Oxford mob to enroll at Ole Miss; the haunting 
posters of James Chaney, Michael Schwerner, and Andrew Goodman, 
lynched by the Ku Klux Klan in Neshoba County; the eloquent voice 
of Fannie Lou Hamer, testifying at the Democratic National Conven­
tion in Atlantic City. Yet, with the exception of the Meredith March 
of ig66, during which Stokely Carmichael and Willie Ricks shocked 
the nation with their call for Black Power, students of history have 
paid scant attention to the black struggle for freedom in the Magnolia 
State in the years following the i964 Summer Project. For in the mid­
and late-196os a series of tumultuous events crowded Mississippi off 
center stage: urban insurrections in northern ghettoes; the assassina­
tions of Malcolm X, Martin Luther King, Jr., and Robert Kennedy; 
and above all, America's deepening involvement in Vietnam. But the 
movement did not die out in Mississippi. African Americans there 
continued to press their demands for desegregation of public facili­
ties, including schools; equal employment opportunity; and an end to 
the police and Klan violence that had been the hallmark of the closed 
society. Above all, the movement sought political power for black Mis­
sissippians through a new organization, the Mississippi Freedom Demo­
cratic party. 

Since the formation of the first National Association for the Ad-
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vancement of Colored People (NAACP) branch in i918 in Vicksburg, 
obtaining the vote had been the primary goal of black activists in Mis­
sissippi. The state constitution of i8go had effectively disfranchised 
Mississippi blacks, then over half the population, through the poll tax 
and a series of amendments requiring that applicants demonstrate an 
"understanding" of the state constitution. Local registrars routinely 
failed black applicants while registering all whites. As a result, few 
blacks even attempted to register until World War II. Then, in i944, 
The United States Supreme Court, in the Smith v. Allwright decision, 
outlawed the Democrats' white primary, the only election of impor­
tance in the South. Believing that the federal government was now on 
their side, blacks across the South mounted voter registration drives. 
In Mississippi, returning World War II veterans led the campaign, 
which was met with white hostility and violence.1 

By i954 only twenty-two thousand blacks were registered to vote, 
4 percent of those eligible. That same year Brown v. Board of Educa­
tion declared segregated public schools unconstitutional, and black 
Mississippians, again emboldened by a Supreme Court action, filed 
school desegregation petitions and organized groups of people to take 
the registration test. The leader of this movement was the NAACP's 
first state field secretary in Mississippi, Medgar Evers. A World War 
II veteran, Evers crisscrossed the state to organize NAACP chapters, 
line up local people to file school desegregation petitions, and persuade 
eligible blacks to try to register to vote. White Mississippi responded 
as it had in the past. The newly formed Citizens' Council, a group 
of leading businessmen, employed economic coercion to persuade blacks 
to remove their names from the school petitions and also threatened 
citizens attempting to register. If these measures failed, whites resorted 
to violence to preserve their supremacy. In Belzoni, NAACP branch 
president Rev. George W. Lee was gunned down by a carload of whites. 
His friend and fellow activist, Gus Courts, survived an assassination 
attempt but had to flee the state. And in Brookhaven a sixty-year-old 
farmer named Lamar Smith, a leader of the registration campaign, 
was shot and killed on the courthouse lawn in broad daylight. There 
were no convictions in any of these cases. 2 

These politically inspired crimes, along with the lynching of young 
Emmett Till for allegedly whistling at a white woman, led one white 
Mississippian to conclude that "There's open season on Negroes now. 
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... Any peckerwood who wants can go shoot himself one, and we'll 
free him. Our situation will get worse and worse." The combination 
of economic intimidation and physical violence had dealt a severe blow 
to movement efforts in Mississippi. Local NAACP branches reported 
membership losses, and fear of white reprisal forced a number of key 
activists to move away from the state. The Eisenhower administration 
did little or nothing to enforce the U.S. Constitution in Mississippi. 
Medgar Evers worked feverishly to keep the movement alive, giving 
pep talks and attempting to allay fears through his own example. But 
the results were not heartening. By the end of the decade the move­
ment was at a standstill: there were even fewer blacks registered to 
vote than there had been in 1954. 3 

The second wave of the Mississippi movement began with the Free­
dom Rides in ig6I and ended at the Democratic National Convention 
in Atlantic City in the summer of i964. In many ways this new burst 
of activism was consistent with the initial stirrings of the i95os. Older, 
middle-class leaders supplied the base for movement activities in their 
communities, feeding and housing civil rights workers and offering 
them a degree of protection. The basic thrust of the movement re­
mained, as it had been for nearly a century, that of voter registration. 
Still, the contrasts between the two decades are striking. The move­
ment of the i95os had been based in the cities, dominated by the 
NAACP, and centered around the small black middle class. (Few black 
sharecroppers signed school petitions or were encouraged to register 
and vote.) 

Organizers in the ig6os, on the other hand, saw the rural poor 
as their natural constituency. Young activists abandoned coats and ties 
for denim overalls in a symbolic effort to identify with the majority 
of the state's black citizens. And where in the i95os black men had 
dominated local leadership, now women were entering the movement 
in larger numbers. They became the backbone of the struggle, form­
ing a majority at most mass meetings and participating in all phases 
of activity, from running for Congress to serving time in prison. While 
the new movement did not succeed in eliminating all distinctions of 
class and gender, it came closer to the ideal of the egalitarian commu­
nity than has any major American social movement, before or since. 4 

The most visible change in the ig6os was the influx of newcomers. 
The southern sit-ins in ig6o inspired black men and women in their 
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teens and twenties to commit themselves to work full time in Missis­
sippi. A number of these activists were affiliated with the Congress 
of Racial Equality (CORE), but most were organizers with the Stu­
dent Nonviolent Coordinating Committee (SNCC), which began its 
Mississippi operations in McComb in the summer of ig61. The South­
ern Christian Leadership Conference (SCLC) made no major commit­
ment but did establish leadership schools to assist in the registration 
effort. The NAACP, with Medgar Evers as field secretary and Aaron 
Henry, a Clarksdale druggist, as state president, remained active in 
several communities. The presence of these different protest groups 
would eventually create interorganizational problems, but until At­
lantic City, tensions were kept under control, in part because of the 
establishment in early i962 of the Conference of Federated Organiza­
tions. COFO represented an honest, and for the most part successful, 
effort to unify all national, state, and local movement organizations 
operating in Mississippi. SNCC's Bob Moses was named director of 
COFO's voter registration work, with CORE's Dave Dennis as assis­
tant director. Aaron Henry of the NAACP was COFO president, but 
from the outset SNCC supplied most of COFO's organizers and fi­
nancial support and quickly emerged as the dominant partner in the 
coalition. 5 

During the first eighteen months of its existence, COFO organized 
in black communities across the northern half of the state. SNCC con­
centrated its voter registration drive in the Delta city of Greenwood, 
attracting national attention as police brutally repressed local people 
attempting to gain the franchise. CORE's activities centered in Madi­
son County, located just north of the capital city of Jackson, and in 
Meridian, on the Alabama border. Operating out of his home base 
in Clarksdale, Aaron Henry combined voter registration with a boy­
cott of that city's white businesses, which refused to desegregate their 
facilities or employ blacks in other than menial positions. And in 
Jackson, a similar NAACP campaign ended tragically with the assas­
sination of Medgar Evers, shot from ambush as he arrived home after 
addressing a mass meeting. 

Despite the dedication of movement activists and the courage of 
thousands of black Mississippians, by the end of the summer of i963 
the movement was stalled on every front. Whites simply refused to 
register black applicants or negotiate movement demands and kept 
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their jails full of "troublemakers." The Kennedy administration, while 
identifying with the goals of the activists, had offered little more than 
token support. Some twenty lawsuits involving discrimination against 
black voter registrants, which had been filed by the Justice Depart­
ment, had gotten bogged down in the courts. FBI agents, often at the 
scene when blacks were beaten and arrested while peacefully picket­
ing, made no arrests, claiming they lacked jurisdiction. The Kennedy 
policy here was "Federalism," with its basic premise that "the respon­
sibility for the preservation of law and order ... is the responsibility 
of local authorities." Only when a situation deteriorated to the point 
where local officials could not (or would not) control it- as when James 
Meredith enrolled at the University of Mississippi -would the federal 
government respond with outside force. 6 Thus after three years of 
organizing, civil rights workers in Mississippi had made few tangible 
gains, and most whites felt they could crush the movement without 
fear of federal intervention. If black activists were to find a way to 
organize their communities, they had to change tactics. 

That new strategy took shape in the summer of i963 with a COFO 
decision to hold a statewide mock election and culminated in the chal­
lenge of the Mississippi Freedom Democratic party at the Democratic 
National Convention in August of i964. The "freedom vote's" purposes 
were twofold: to demonstrate that, given an opportunity, large num­
bers of blacks would participate in the political process and to attract 
national attention to the brutal repression that accompanied efforts 
by blacks to gain their rights. COFO nominated NAACP state presi­
dent Aaron Henry for governor and Edwin King, white chaplain at 
Tougaloo College, for lieutenant governor. The freedom vote was a 
success. More than eighty thousand blacks (and a handful of whites) 
cast ballots for the Henry-King ticket, despite widespread harassment. 

The national media, however, took little interest in the campaign, 
and the pattern of repression in Mississippi continued into i964. By 
then, COFO had made plans for a summer project that brought hun­
dreds of northern volunteers, most of whom were white college stu­
dents, into the state to work on voter registration, in community cen­
ters, and in the new freedom schools established to provide black 
children with basic skills and an understanding of African-American 
history. The volunteers also assisted in the organization of the Free­
dom Democratic party (FDP), which would send a delegation to the 
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national convention to challenge the seating of the all-white segrega­
tionist regular delegation. 7 

When the Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party held its state con­
vention in Jackson on August 6, nearly twenty-five hundred people 
packed into the Masonic Temple. Several northern state delegations 
had pledged to support the FDP challenge, and Washington attorney 
Joseph Rauh, who had strong connections to the Democratic party's 
liberal wing, had signed on as legal counsel to guide FDP through the 
bureaucratic maze of convention regulations. Rauh explained the pro­
cess to the delegates assembled in Jackson: FDP would first take its 
case to the credentials committee, arguing that blacks had been ex­
cluded from the regular party and that FDP was the only party in 
the state loyal to the national ticket. Should the committee refuse to 
seat FDP, then all it would take to bring the issue to the convention 
floor-where the issue could be raised before a national television au­
dience - would be for 11 members of the 108-person credentials com­
mittee and eight state delegations to support the FDP position. Should 
the issue be decided by the convention as a whole, Rauh assured his 
Jackson audience, the chances for success would be excellent. 8 

The major task at the Jackson meeting was to elect delegates to 
the national convention. Earlier in the day Ella Baker, a veteran move­
ment warrior and SNCC advisor, had warned her audience, "We must 
be careful lest we elect to represent us people who, for the first time, 
feel their sense of importance and will represent themselves before they 
represent you."9 Baker was aware that during the past month tradi­
tional NAACP leaders had decided that although they had not been 
active in organizing the FDP or in planning the challenge, now that 
it was a reality they should occupy a prominent place in the delega­
tion. These men (the establishment leadership was male) had been ac­
tive in earlier registration campaigns, but their approach to social 
change was gradualist, and they had been guarded in their dealings 
with the young activists in SNCC and CORE. Yet now that the train 
had arrived and was getting ready to pull out, these established lead­
ers scrambled to get on board. FDP organize_rs worked behind the 
scenes to keep as many of them as possible standing at the station. 

Bob Moses later recalled that he and other COFO activists wanted 
to get "as radical a delegation as you could, people who would stand 
up when they got to Atlantic City." Thus at the FDP convention in 
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Jackson -where the majority of the sixty-eight-person delegation was 
to be selected- organizers took steps to make sure the Atlantic City 
contingent represented the black majority, the rural poor. To do so, 
it was necessary to engage in old-style politics, with COFO staff mem­
bers distributing a slate of delegates to be elected at large. The ballot­
ing divided roughly along rural and urban lines, with representatives 
from the countryside uniting to elect their people and to defeat "big 
city" businessmen and professionals. Middle-class leaders were by no 
means excluded from the delegation - they would make their presence 
felt at Atlantic City during the debate. But the FDP delegation as a 
whole was militant and included such grassroots activists as E. W. 
Steptoe, Winson Hudson, Hazel Palmer, and Fannie Lou Hamer­
local people with little formal education or social status, but who 
spoke from experience in the name of the dispossessed. 10 

Held during the last week of August, the Democratic National 
Convention was to be a coronation of sorts for Pres. Lyndon B. John­
son. No other names were to be placed in nomination; there would 
be no major platform fights. A week before the convention the only 
item of suspense was Johnson's choice for a running mate. But the 
sixty-four blacks and four whites who comprised the Mississippi Free­
dom Democratic party delegation upset the president's plans for an 
orchestrated convention. 

The FDP delegates arrived in Atlantic City by bus the day before 
the all-important hearing with the credentials committee. Housed in 
the small, run-down Gem Hotel, about a mile from the convention 
hall, These Mississippians stood in sharp contrast to the well-heeled 
rank-and-file party faithful. Sharecroppers and small landowners, 
maids and mechanics, schoolteachers and middle-class business own­
ers, the Freedom Party delegation accurately reflected the socioeco­
nomic composition of the state's black population. SNCC worker Mary 
King recalls that the delegates were at first "dazzled and bewildered 
by the scene, and by the media attention they immediately attracted." 
But they quickly got down to business, fanning out over the conven­
tion grounds, buttonholing delegates, bringing them the word on life 
in Mississippi and the righteousness of the challenge. 

Although the FDP delegates were objects of interest and curiosity 
at a convention that promised to be dull, few political observers had 
taken their challenge seriously. A week earlier, Mississippi governor 
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Paul Johnson had told the press that the president had assured him 
that the Freedom Democrats would not be seated. Now that the Re­
publicans had nominated Sen. Barry Goldwater, the Arizona senator 
who had voted against the 1964 Civil Rights Bill, Lyndon Johnson was 
confident of his base among black voters but feared a white blacklash 
in the South if the FDP gained recognition. More immediately, John­
son was concerned that southern delegations might walk out of the 
convention if FDP were seated. 11 

Whatever chances FDP had, depended on the credentials commit­
tee hearings. Here both FDP and the regulars would present their cases 
before a jury of 108 Democrats. Since this committee was dominated 
by the president's supporters, no one expected it to act favorably on 
the challenge. But the FDP strategy remained the same as outlined 
earlier by attorney Joe Rauh: if 10 percent of the committee - 11 mem­
bers - filed a minority report supporting FDP, that report would come 
to the convention floor. And if eight states then requested a roll call, 
every delegation would have to go on record, avoiding the voice-vote 
rubber stamp that convention chairs so often used to decide unpopu­
lar issues. Going into the credentials committee meeting, Rauh was 
confident that he had his "eleven and eight" with room to spare. 

When committee chair David Lawrence gaveled the meeting to 
order, network cameras were there to cover the proceedings live. White 
Mississippians defended their delegation's loyalty, pointing to the sup­
port Mississippi had given the party's presidential nominees in the past. 
And they denied that blacks had difficulty voting in the Magnolia State. 
The challengers argued that FDP should be seated because blacks had 
been shut out of the Mississippi Democratic party. The Freedom party 
had observed all party regulations in selecting its delegation and had 
pledged loyalty to the national ticket, while the regulars, who made 
no secret of their affinity for Barry Goldwater, would not. But legal 
arguments counted for little at this hearing, which reached its high 
point with the dramatic, emotional testimony of the former share­
cropper from Ruleville, Fannie Lou Hamer. 12 

The several million Americans who watched the proceedings live 
on television had known little if anything about Mrs. Hamer, but as 
she graphically described her life, her eviction from the plantation 
when she registered to vote, and, most dramatically, her beating in 
the Winona jail after returning from a voter education workshop in 
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South Carolina, it immediately became apparent that hers was an au­
thentic voice, describing simply but powerfully the reality of life in 
the closed society. This was high drama, and it did not go unnoticed 
in the White House. In the middle of Mrs. Hamer's testimony, Presi­
dent Johnson hurriedly called a press conference, and the networks 
dutifully cut away before she had completed her remarks. Realizing 
they had been manipulated, and sensing the importance of the story, 
the networks played back her testimony that night, where a prime time 
audience heard her emotional conclusion: "If the Freedom Party is not 
seated now I question America. Is this America, the land of the free 
and the home of the brave, where we have to sleep with our telephones 
off the hook because our lives are threatened daily, because we want 
to live as decent human beings in America?" Immediately after Mrs. 
Hamer's testimony, telegrams of support began flooding the conven­
tion. FDP had won the first round. 13 

In his memoirs Lyndon Johnson makes no mention of the Missis­
sippi challenge, remembering Atlantic City as a "place of surging 
crowds and thundering cheers." In fact, the president was not only 
well aware of the FDP's effort to unseat the Mississippi regulars, he 
was obsessed by it. Throughout the summer Johnson and his aides had 
been quietly lobbying important northern governors to oppose the 
challenge, and such efforts intensified on the convention floor. The per­
son given the responsibility for managing this delicate operation was 
Sen. Hubert Humphrey of Minnesota. In many ways Humphrey was 
the ideal choice. A liberal with an impressive civil rights record, Hum­
phrey had close ties with Democrats (such as Joe Rauh) who were 
supporting FDP. Humphrey had good reason to do the president's 
bidding, for he was the front-runner for the vice-presidential nomina­
tion. Word quickly passed that the president would choose Humphrey 
as his running mate - providing that the senator kept FDP in line. Joe 
Rauh began feeling the pressure, both from Humphrey and from Wal­
ter Reuther, head of the United Auto Workers, for whom Rauh was 
legal counsel. The president's operatives on the floor began contacting 
members of the credentials committee, promising political rewards -
or punishment - depending upon how they voted on Mississippi. In 
addition to his standard arm-twisting approach, Lyndon Johnson 
turned to J. Edgar Hoover for help. 14 

The White House campaign of surveillance and espionage was a 
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Watergate that worked. In 1976, in the aftermath of the Nixon scan­
dals, the Senate Select Committee to Study Governmental Operations, 
the Church Committee, summarized the Atlantic City operation with 
devastating clarity: 

Approximately 30 Special Agents, headed by Assistant Director Cartha 
["Deke"] DeLoach, 'were able to keep the White House fully apprised 
of all major developments during the Convention's course' by means of 
'information coverage, by use of various confidential techniques, by in­
filtration of key groups through use of undercover agents, and through 
utilization of agents using appropriate cover as reporters'. Among these 
"confidential techniques" were: a wiretap on the hotel room occupied by 
Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., and microphone surveillance of a storefront 
serving as headquarters for the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Com­
mittee and another civil rights organization [CORE]. 15 

FBI intelligence gathered at the convention proved valuable. Agents 
posing as NBC correspondents (the network cooperated) gained off­
the-record information through interviews. The wiretaps provided im­
portant data on FDP strategy throughout the convention, and FBI 
agents operated an informant who attended all FDP meetings and 
caucuses. Correspondence in the Johnson Library reveals a constant 
stream of memoranda to the president's desk during convention week. 
DeLoach passed on the FDP reports to Johnson's aides on the floor, 
Walter Jenkins and Bill Moyers (whose FBI code name for the week 
was "Bishop"), and they in turn phoned it in to Lee White at the White 
House, or to Johnson directly. 16 

The veteran SNCC and CORE activists at the convention were 
fully aware that the White House was working against them, but not 
even they suspected that to thwart the Freedom Democrats' challenge 
the president would resort to tactics normally reserved for spies and 
gangsters. Instead, they went about the business of lining up support 
for the challenge, while the FDP delegation debated whether to agree 
to a compromise on the question of seating. It found acceptable a pro­
posal put forward by Rep. Edith Green of Oregon, a credentials com­
mittee member. Under the Green initiative, the convention would seat 
all members of both Mississippi delegations who would pledge loyalty 
to the party and the presidential ticket, dividing seats proportionally 
according to the number who signed the oath. FDP leaders knew that 
since no more than a handful of the regular delegates would do so, 
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the Green plan would in effect exclude the regulars while seating the 
challengers. For this reason the proposal was unacceptable to Lyndon 
Johnson. 17 

The growing support for the Freedom Democrats in Atlantic City 
compelled the Johnson forces to come up with a compromise of their 
own. Working through the credentials committee subcommittee, 
chaired by Minnesota attorney general Walter Mondale, a Humphrey 
protege, the White House put forth a three-part proposal. First, FDP 
representatives Aaron Henry and Ed King would be seated as at-large 
delegates, with the rest of the delegation "welcomed as honored guests 
of this convention." Second, only those members of the Mississippi 
regulars who signed a loyalty oath agreeing to support the party's 
nominees in November would be seated. Finally, the national Demo­
cratic party pledged to eliminate racial discrimination in state delega­
tions in all future conventions. 18 Hubert Humphrey called a meeting 
with Aaron Henry, Ed King, Bob Moses, Rev. Martin Luther King, 
Jr., and other activists in an attempt to sell the compromise to them. 
Moses did not favor the proposal, but he, Henry, and Ed King all said 
that the FDP delegation would have to decide the question. At that 
point one of Senator Humphrey's aides burst in to say that there was 
important news on television. Everyone rushed into the next room to 
hear a bulletin stating that the credentials committee had just approved 
the two-seat compromise and that this was a great victory for the civil 
rights forces. A furious Bob Moses, believing he had been sandbagged, 
shouted at Humphrey "You tricked us!" and stormed past him, slam­
ming the door on the next vice-president of the United States. 19 

The combination of political pressure from the White House and 
the compromise itself had all but dissolved FDP's support on the cre­
dentials committee. There would be no minority report brought to 
the convention floor, no roll call vote. The Freedom Democrats' re­
sponse would now have no bearing on the final outcome. But because 
the Mississippians had become such a potent symbol, administration 
officials pushed hard to win their agreement, bringing in such civil 
rights luminaries as Bayard Rustin and Martin Luther King to per­
suade FDP to accept the compromise. (King did not employ his con­
siderable oratorical skills to sway the delegation but did say that Hum­
phrey "promised me there would be a new day in Mississippi if you 
accept this proposal.") An initial FDP response was to stage a sit-in 
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on the convention floor, temporarily occupying the seats of the Missis­
sippi delegation, now all but empty since only four of the regulars 
agreed to the loyalty oath. 20 

When the Freedom Democrats met for the last time to discuss their 
position on the compromise, the delegation divided essentially along 
socioeconomic lines. Bob Moses recalled that the delegates favoring 
the compromise were largely oriented toward the NAACP, the "more 
established people from the large cities." Fannie Lou Hamer described 
this group more graphically: "Everybody that would compromise in 
five minutes was the people with a real good education . ... Them 
folks will sell you - they will sell your mama, their mama, anybody 
else for a dollar." These were traditional Democrats, who believed that 
FDP had made its point and now must follow the dictates of their 
party. Opponents pointed out that the compromise recognized the le­
gitimacy of the racist white delegation; that if King and Henry took 
the seats, they would be registered as at-large delegates and would 
not represent Mississippi; and that the Johnson forces did not have the 
right to decide who the FDP delegates would be. The promise that 
things would be different in ig68 seemed empty since only a handful 
of blacks could vote in Mississippi. Aside from these particulars, the 
grass-roots contingent was furious that the compromise proposal had 
been sprung on them after the fact and that the people whom they 
had trusted appeared to have sold them out. In the end it was again 
Fannie Lou Hamer who stated the case most directly: "I got up and 
I soon said what I had to say and I sat down. I said, we didn't come 
all the way up here to compromise for no more than we'd gotten here . 
. . . We didn't come all this way for no two seats." After hours of dis­
cussion and debate, the FOP delegation rejected the Atlantic City 
compromise. 21 

"For many people," observed SNCC's Joyce Ladner, '1\.tlantic City 
was the end of innocence." Bob Moses believed that '1\.tlantic City was 
a watershed in the movement, because up 'until then the idea had been 
that you were working more or less within the Democratic Party. We 
were working with them on voting, other things like that. With Atlan­
tic City, a lot of movement people became disillusioned. . . . You turned 
around and your support was puddle-deep." SNCC's Cleveland Sellers 
expressed that disillusionment: "Never again were we lulled into be­
lieving that our task was exposing injustices so that the 'good' people 
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of America could eliminate them. We left Atlantic City with the knowl­
edge that the movement had turned into something else. After Atlan­
tic City, our struggle was not for civil rights, but for liberation."22 

For most black Mississippians in the fall of i964, "liberation" meant 
working within the system to gain political power. In a decision that 
surprised many outsiders, early in September members of the execu­
tive committee of the FDP voted to endorse and campaign for the 
Johnson-Humphrey ticket. They argued that "support for Johnson will 
help in the fight against the Regular Democratic Party," believing "de­
spite Atlantic City, in the ultimate ability of the Democratic Party to 
meet the challenge of the FDP and eliminate racism from its ranks." 
This move did not sit well with a number of SNCC and CORE workers. 
For them the lesson of Atlantic City was that the Democrats could 
not be trusted; blacks must organize independently of the national 
party. Yet these staff members were reluctant to impose their will on 
the new party and its indigenous leadership, for "letting the people 
decide" was the cornerstone of movement philosophy. Moreover, sup­
port for Lyndon Johnson's reelection was but part of a larger freedom 
vote campaign that featured black candidates running for Congress. 
FDP's goal, then, was to demonstrate support for the national party 
while at the same time developing increased political consciousness 
among black Mississippians. 23 

Spearheading this effort was FDP chair Lawrence Guyot. For the 
next four years Guyot was the driving force behind the Freedom party. 
A strong, forceful person whose vocabulary matched his imposing 
physical stature, Guyot developed a loyal following and bitter enemies 
within the movement. His credentials were impressive. The Tougaloo 
College graduate had been in the early contingent of SNCC activists 
who moved into Greenwood. In i963 he had been brutally beaten by 
Winona police, and the following year he had worked closely with 
local people in organizing black Hattiesburg. A person of unsurpassed 
physical courage, Guyot was also headstrong and combative, traits that 
served him better confronting sheriffs than dealing with the subtleties 
of movement politics. 24 

The i964 Freedom Vote campaign was a disappointment for FDP 
and symptomatic of a general malaise that had settled over the Mis­
sissippi movement. Approximately sixty thousand blacks cast ballots, 
down by more than 25 percent from the i963 vote. White harassment 
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was part of the problem, but the major difficulties were internal. 
Lawrence Guyot later looked back on this period as one of missed op­
portunities: "That was a crucial time. We had jolted the country. The 
state of Mississippi was on the defensive." Instead of maintaining the 
pressure, the campaign resulted in "utter chaos . . . . For three months 
there was nothing but anger, frustration. . .. The organizers - between 
200 and 300 of them - were completely disillusioned .... They would 
have been better absent than in Mississippi."25 While Guyot may have 
overstated the problem, there is no doubt that the summer project and 
Atlantic City had taken their toll. Many movement veterans were suffer­
ing from what psychiatrist Robert Coles (who had worked in the state 
during the summer) identified as battle fatigue: "In many ways these 
young civil rights workers are in a war and exposed to the stresses of 
warfare." Among the symptoms were fear, anxiety, and depression, and 
those affected might be expected to "take to heavy drinking or become 
silent, sulky, uncooperative." Coles concluded that "in such cases the 
non-violent movement itself may be attacked instead of the segregated 
society formerly felt to be the enemy."26 

Throughout the fall and winter of i964 exhausted SNCC and 
CORE organizers had to contend with declining morale within their 
projects, problems exacerbated by the more than one hundred white 
volunteers who had decided to remain in Mississippi after the end of 
the summer project. These young men and women were full of en­
thusiasm and ideas and often confident to the point of arrogance. In 
such an atmosphere black-white tensions, which had flared during the 
summer, now exploded. Volunteers who had submitted to organiza­
tional discipline during the summer now demanded to be treated as 
equals and often chafed at what they perceived to be authoritarian 
conduct by black project directors. In Canton, a white volunteer de­
nounced project director George Raymond: "You're a dictator, a little 
Caesar; you're everything in the movement I'm against. I'm in the move­
ment to get out guys like you!" (Raymond was a man whose courage 
and dedication were unsurpassed in the movement. Frustrated by the 
efforts of the newcomers to set policy, he had suggested that they all 
take a leave of absence and go home to raise money.)27 Throughout 
the state debates over tactics, strategy, involvement of local people, 
and the chain of command all came down to a matter of "black and 
white." 
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The pressures began to take their toll. SNCC and CORE workers 
who had been in Mississippi for nearly three years now began to move 
away, some to finish college, others to pursue political activity in other 
states. Still others, victims of battle fatigue, simply dropped out. COFO 
leaders Bob Moses and Dave Dennis, the key people in the Mississippi 
civil rights coalition, drifted in and out of the state, and took little 
part in the day-to-day operations of the central office. In early 1965 
both left the state for good. Without leadership or agreement on a 
program and beset by black-white tensions, COFO went into decline. 
The young Mississippi Freedom Democratic party stepped in to fill 
the vacuum, as it pushed ahead with plans to challenge the legitimacy 
of the state's congressional delegation. 28 

On December 4, 1964, attorneys for the FDP filed a notice of con­
test, asserting that the five white Mississippi congressmen should not 
be seated because blacks had been "systematically and deliberately ex­
cluded from the electoral process .... "The brief also maintained that 
Victoria Gray, Annie Devine, and Fannie Lou Hamer, three FDP con­
gressional candidates who had run in the freedom vote election after 
being denied a place on the official ballot, were entitled to the con­
gressional seats in their respective districts. For the next ten months 
most FDP resources were directed toward the challenge. Activists or­
ganized support groups throughout the country, winning endorsement 
from SNCC, CORE, and SCLC, among other civil rights organiza­
tions. On January 4, 1965, the opening day of Congress, more than 
600 black Mississippians came to Washington to lobby for their cause 
and heard Rep. William Fitts Ryan of New York object to the admin­
istration of the oath of office to the Mississippi whites. After a debate, 
the House seated the Mississippians. But 149 members of Congress 
voted with the FDP, and the resolution seating the congressmen also 
stated that FDP could present its case "under the laws governing con­
tested elections."29 

There followed a complicated, drawn-out parliamentary pro­
cedure, which saw more than 150 attorneys coming to Mississippi to 
take depositions in the case, finally presented to the House in Septem­
ber. The results were the same: the white Mississippians kept their seats. 
But the Freedom Democratic party had focused national attention on 
the problems facing blacks attempting to register and vote. Along with 
the more publicized SCLC campaign in Selma, the congressional chal-
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lenge assured passage of the i965 Voting Rights Act. Yet if the chal­
lenge revitalized the Mississippi movement by providing it with a new 
mission and focus, it also revealed the problems that FDP was facing 
in its determination to steer a course independent of the national Demo­
cratic party. As was the case with Atlantic City, the White House vigor­
ously opposed the congressional challenge and took steps to distance 
itself further from the MFDP. 30 The moderate wing of the civil rights 
movement was also troubled by what it perceived as the radical direc­
tion of the new Mississippi party, as was much of the northern liberal 
establishment of trade unions, intellectuals, and Democratic office hold­
ers. Accustomed to facing the hostility of Mississippi's white segrega­
tionists, the Freedom party now found itself under attack from "friends" 
of the movement. 

Liberal support for the congressional challenge was by no means 
unanimous. The national office of the NAACP agreed that while "it 
would be a good thing to get rid of the Mississippi Congressmen ... 
the NAACP does not endorse the method proposed by the MFDP." 
Specifically, the NAACP took issue with the provision of the challenge 
that would seat the three FDP women who ran in the mock election. 
The Americans for Democratic Action concurred with the NAACP. 
The symbol and substance of American liberalism, the ADA had on 
its board such important Atlantic City players as Hubert Humphrey, 
Walter Reuther, and Joe Rauh. Its position was that "the contention 
that Mrs. Hamer, Devine, and Gray should be seated in Congress is 
without legal support and has dangerous implications. They were not 
elected in any regularly-constituted state election." The ADA, then, 
would "support the challenge to the Mississippi congressmen uncon­
nected with the effort to seat the three ladies .... " Concerned that 
"many of our liberal friends, such as the ADA, are trying to undercut 
the challenge by saying we don't really have legal grounds ... " The 
FDP withdrew its demand that the three women be seated. 31 

But the ADA was still uncomfortable with the Freedom Demo­
crats. After a tour of the South, ADA staff member Curtis Gans recom­
mended that the organization "use whatever influence it has to urge 
SNCC to abandon the Freedom Democratic orientation of its black 
belt party as being harmful to the freedom and representation the 
Negroes seek." At the same time, the ADA should push hard for voting 
rights legislation, for "quick granting of voting rights will mean quick 
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recruitment by the Democratic Party, which in turn will mean quick 
scuttling of the Freedom Democratic parties .... " In the meantime, 
Gans advised that the ADA should "assist in a quiet freeze of funds 
on those projects which have a Freedom Democratic Party orienta­
tion." Gans was obviously concerned that the MFDP would not ac­
cept national party discipline. He and other cold war liberals were 
equally uncomfortable with the (untrue) charges that the Mississippi 
movement had been infiltrated by communists. In a series of widely 
publicized articles, journalists Rowland Evans and Robert Novak 
painted the young organizers with a broad red brush: "Whether and 
to what extent these new activists are Communist infiltrated isn't wholly 
known. But it's significant that [Bob] Moses was a speaker last week 
in New York at the annual dinner of the National Guardian, a publi­
cation widely regarded as the most flamboyant exponent of the Chi­
nese Communist line in this country."32 This red-baiting was to hurt 
the MFDP, both with its national constituency and at home, where 
middle-class blacks associated with the NAACP saw an opportunity 
to regain the positions of leadership they had lost when SNCC and 
CORE organizers had first moved onto their turf in ig6i. 

While the national NAACP office had always distrusted the mili­
tants in COFO, local NAACP branches had often welcomed SNCC 
and CORE organizers into their communities and worked with them 
under the COFO banner. But in the summer of i964 the coalition began 
to unravel. Local NAACP leaders charged that the young activists were 
undermining the NAACP, renouncing the old guard as Uncle Toms 
and urging black youths in these communities to identify with the new 
militancy. Differences in life-style were also a problem. Older blacks 
were offended at the summer volunteers' informal dress and alarmed 
by interracial courtships, particularly white women dating black men. 
By the end of the summer, resentment against the young activists was 
building in NAACP branches across the state. Tensions reached a peak 
in Atlantic City, where the vote to reject the compromise divided along 
class and rural-urban lines. Bob Moses later observed that "the thing 
that the movement had going for it ... up until the convention was 
a unity among the black population about the program and goals. And 
that was shattered at the convention." The "class thing," Moses con­
cluded, "came to a head at Atlantic City." FDP leader Ed King re­
membered that "suddenly a real class barrier developed the minute 
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we got back from Atlantic City. The old leadership class refused to 
work with the Freedom Party," and there developed "a kind of inter­
nal feuding within the Negro community from a displaced leadership 
class to restore itself and take the leadership over from a new class of 
leaders."33 

The key defection from the movement coalition was that of Aaron 
Henry. The Clarksdale druggist and state NAACP president was the 
most ecumenical of all the veteran leaders, welcoming SNCC and 
CORE workers into his community, supporting the COFO program. 
At one point NAACP director of branches Gloster Current had grum­
bled that COFO had "captured the imagination and most of the time 
of our state president, who offers little to his own organization except 
lip service." During the middle of the summer Current had written 
Charles Evers, who had taken his slain brother's place as state field 
secretary, that "every effort should be made to encourage Dr. Henry 
to wean himself away from [COFO]." He concluded ominously, "We 
shall review our relationship with that organization at the end of the 
summer."34 Henry also came under pressure from northern liberals, 
who persuaded him to favor the two-seat compromise in Atlantic City. 
(Upset by his delegation's refusal to accept the compromise, Henry left 
the convention before it had ended.) 

Henry had participated in the fall freedom vote, running for sena­
tor against John Stennis. But attorney Joe Rauh had convinced him 
that he "had no right to sit in lieu of Stennis," and Henry had with­
drawn from the challenge. Relations between Henry and his COFO 
comrades grew strained, and early in 1965 with Henry's blessing the 
state NAACP officially severed its ties with COFO. 35 Now Henry was 
searching for new allies; he found them among a group of Mississippi 
whites. 

One of the direct consequences of the 1954 Brown decision and 
the subsequent formation of the Citizens' Council was the disappear­
ance of the white moderate. In the late 1950s, those whites opposed 
to Jim Crow either kept their opinions to themselves or left the state. 
But by the fall of 1964 the civil rights forces had driven a wedge into 
the closed society, and voices of moderation again surfaced in the Mag­
nolia State. Sensing that the politics of the future in Mississippi would 
be interracial, these whites wanted to overthrow the segregationist 
leadership of the state Democratic party. This is not to say that these 
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men (and a few women) were willing to make common cause with 
the Freedom Democratic party. They saw FDP as a radical black or­
ganization dominated by extremists of the New Left. In their efforts 
to bring about a new Mississippi, the white moderates kept their dis­
tance from the FDP and COFD and courted instead disenchanted black 
moderates like Aaron Henry and Charles Evers. 

The first organizational alternative to the Freedom Democratic 
party was the Mississippi Democratic Council (MDC), formed early 
in the summer of i965. Spearheading this effort was Claude Ramsay, 
state president of the AFL-CIO. Labor organizers in Mississippi were 
about as unpopular as civil rights workers, and while sympathetic to 
the goals of the movement, Ramsey had kept a low profile during the 
early ig6os, in part because the rank and file of the labor movement 
were strongly segregationist. But in mid-July, i965, approximately i25 
people responded to his call to build "a Loyalist Mississippi Demo­
cratic group to restore relations with the national party." Nearly three­
fourths of those attending the founding meeting were white, includ­
ing Hodding Carter III, editor of the Delta Democrat-Times. Of the 
black Mississippians, most prominent were Charles Evers, Aaron Henry, 
and Charles Young, a prosperous Meridian businessman. No one con­
nected with SNCC, CORE, or FDP was invited to this meeting. 36 

The MDC all but died aborning. Lyndon Johnson was still un­
willing to offend powerful Mississippians on Capitol Hill, such as Sen­
ators Eastland and Stennis, and did not offer support. Movement 
activists in Mississippi were outraged at this apparent effort to under­
mine their credibility, and only a handful of blacks continued to iden­
tify with MDC. After several meetings the organization dissolved. By 
this time, however, the moderates had found a viable alternative in 
the Mississippi Young Democrats. 

The battle over the charter of the Young Democrats was fought 
between forces representing the MFDP and the new NAACP-labor­
white moderate coalition. COFO activists had attempted to gain the 
YD charter at the Atlantic City convention but were rejected, osten­
sibly because of "technical failures in their application." (The Missis­
sippi Young Democrats had ceased to function even before the i964 
election campaign.) Early in i965 a small group of Delta whites, led 
by Hodding Carter III and attorney Doug Wynn (one of the four "reg­
ular" delegates who did not walk out in Atlantic City), began to re-
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organize existing YD clubs, particularly on white college campuses. 
Allied once again with the state NAACP leadership, they prepared to 
do battle with FDP at a state Young Democrats convention, called 
to adopt a new constitution and to elect officers. Representatives of 
the Carter and FDP factions met prior to the convention, held at the 
Heidelberg Hotel in Jackson, to lay out ground rules. They agreed that 
Gordon Henderson, a political science professor at Millsaps College, 
would be the chair and that no elections would take place before the 
afternoon. (Students at Tougaloo and Millsaps colleges had summer 
school classes in the morning, and a number of blacks from out-of­
town would also be arriving late.) 

Yet when the convention opened, it was apparent that the NAACP­
Carter people, in a majority at the morning session, had a separate 
agenda. Ignoring the earlier agreements, they elected their own con­
vention chair, black NAACP youth leader Johnny Frazier, and pro­
ceeded with the election of officers, choosing Hodding Carter and 
Cleveland Donald (one of a handful of black students enrolled at Ole 
Miss) as YD cochairs and filling other offices with anti-FDP delegates. 
By the afternoon session, however, FDP supporters comprised a strong 
majority at the convention and proceeded to censure and remove Fra­
zier as convention chair by a vote of 175-114. At this point Hodding 
Carter called on all "true" Young Democrats to follow him downstairs 
to a room reserved earlier, where they would hold a "true Young Demo­
cratic state convention." About 30 percent of the delegates walked out 
with Carter, and the two factions met separately for the rest of the 
afternoon. This angry confrontation further exacerbated the bitter divi­
sions. Eventually, the national Young Democrats (who shared their 
parent organizations's distrust of the MFDP) recognized the Carter­
NAACP group as its legitimate Mississippi representative. 37 

All this might appear to be much ado about very little. Nation­
ally, the Young Democrats were not a powerful group, even within 
the party, for the organization was mostly a training ground for young 
politicians. But for the new white-black coalition, capturing the young 
Democrats' charter was extremely important. Whites like Wynn and 
Carter had no previous civil rights credentials, and the NAACP in 
Mississippi had for years been in the shadow of the young SNCC and 
CORE activists and their grass-roots allies. Operating under the Young 
Democrats' banner gave this group visibility and an organizational 
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base from which to operate. Looking back on these developments, 
Doug Wynn, who became the Young Democrats' legal counsel, observed 
that obtaining the state YD charter was essential to the later success 
of his faction. 3s 

For the next three years both the MFDP and the Mississippi Young 
Democrats sought recognition from the national Democratic party as 
the heir apparent to the segregationist regulars, who gave no indica­
tion of opening their party to meaningful black participation. But a 
more important issue was at stake: would the Mississippi movement 
continue to be an independent, grass-roots struggle led by represen­
tatives of the dispossessed? Or would the displaced black middle class, 
assisted by its new white allies, reassert its control and direct the move­
ment into the political mainstream, subject to the dictates of the na­
tional party? Built on the foundation laid by COFO, the FDP enjoyed 
widespread support at the local level. Its challengers were a faction 
in search of a party. Yet the contest would not be fought on a level 
playing field. Cautiously at first, the administration of Lyndon John­
son intervened to assist the middle-class moderate alternative to FDP 
militancy. Working through the president's friend, Doug Wynn, the 
White House staff privately encouraged the moderates, while keeping 
FDP at arm's length. But the administration provided more than moral 
support, employing the politics of poverty to bolster the position of 
the middle-class faction. 39 

A product of the Great Society's War on Poverty, the Child De­
velopment Group of Mississippi (CDGM) was one of the nation's pio­
neer Head Start programs. Launched in the summer of 1965, CDGM 
provided poor children with preschool training, medical care, and two 
nutritious meals a day. It also offered employment at a living wage 
to hundreds of local people serving as paraprofessionals and teachers 
at the Head Start centers. By the following summer CDGM was serv­
ing more than twelve thousand children in 121 preschools in twenty­
eight counties. The Office of Economic Opportunity cited it as a model 
program, praising CDGM for its parent involvement and creative use 
of subprofessionals. Robert Coles testified: "In ten years of work in 
child psychiatry I have yet to see a program like this one. Against al­
most impossible odds children have been taught and also receive the 
benefits of medical care in a manner and with a thoroughness that 
is truly extraordinary." Yet in the fall of 1966, OEO abruptly termi-
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nated CDGM, having hastily and secretly recruited another group of 
Mississippians to apply for a Head Start charter under the name of 
Mississippi Action for Progress (MAP). 40 

The story of the demise of CDGM is far too complex to rehearse 
here except in its barest outline. Essentially what transpired is that 
while white elected officials in Mississippi initially would have no part 
of this program, by the end of the summer of i965 they were dismayed 
to see that CDGM was succeeding not only as an educational institu­
tion, but that it was also taking seriously what OEO director Sargent 
Shriver had said about "maximum participation of the poor in the solu­
tions of their own problems." The professional directors of CDGM had 
not been civil rights workers, but drew upon the organizing talents 
of a number of movement veterans to develop a community action 
program that supported the work of the Freedom Democratic party. 
In a broad but real sense, then, for the first time civil rights forces 
had political patronage to dispense, and federally funded patronage 
at that. All this was too much for John Stennis, who took to the Senate 
floor to accuse CDGM of crimes ranging from fiscal mismanagement 
to providing bail for its employees arrested in demonstrations. Other 
important officials joined in the attack, and their pressure resulted in 
Shriver's abandonment of a Head Start program once considered "the 
best in the country."41 

The OEO decision to replace CDGM with MAP had political im­
plications beyond the question of who would run Head Start. MAP's 
charter went to three white men: Owen Cooper, a Yazoo City indus­
trialist; LeRoy Percy, a wealthy Delta planter; and Rodding Carter III. 
Its appointed governing board of twelve men included Aaron Henry 
and Charles Young, who with Carter were the organizers of the ill­
fated Mississippi Democratic Conference and its successor, the Missis­
sippi Young Democrats. That the original MAP board was all-male 
is not coincidental. Women should work with the children in their lo­
cal programs, nurturing ideas of individual freedom. Questions in­
volving money and power, on the other hand, were men's business. 
The same held true in the political arena. When one thinks of MFDP 
the names that come quickly to mind are Fannie Lou Hamer, Annie 
Devine, and Victoria Gray. Women were the dominant group in the 
Freedom party. Among the challengers, the leading spokespersons were 
Aaron Henry, Charles Evers, and Rodding Carter. Class, race, and 
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gender were at the heart of the internal battles waged in the post-1965 
period over the control of the poverty program and national political 
recognition. 42 

Loss of the poverty program was a serious blow to community 
organizers in Mississippi, especially those active in the Freedom Demo­
cratic party. Control over millions of federal dollars flowing into the 
state gave the moderate faction headed by Carter and Henry the le­
gitimacy- and patronage-it needed. FDP was now broke and under 
heavy attack for its increasing radicalism, as Black Power and the esca­
lating war in Vietnam moved the party further away from the Demo­
cratic mainstream. 

In late July of i965, at the time when organized labor and NAACP 
officers were setting up the Mississippi Democratic Council, a black 
McComb resident named John Shaw was killed while serving in Viet­
nam. Shaw had been active in the McComb movement four years ear­
lier, when SNCC first moved into the state. Enraged that a man who 
could not find freedom at home had lost his life on a foreign battle­
field, two McComb activists, Clint Hopson and Joe Martin, circulated 
a leaflet throughout the community and sent a copy to Jackson, where 
it was published in the MFDP Newsletter, the organization's official 
publication. The McComb statement listed "five reasons why Negroes 
should not be in any war fighting for America," bluntly asserting that 
"Negro boys should not honor the draft here in Mississippi. Mothers 
should encourage their sons not to go." Although the Newsletter printed 
the statement without endorsement, FDP opponents inside and out­
side the state seized upon the document to portray the Freedom party 
as unpatriotic and extremist. 

Denunciations from the white Mississippi establishment were to 
be expected, but what damaged FDP most was the criticism from 
blacks. The NAACP's Charles Evers said that "for Negro citizens to 
ignore the draft can only serve to destroy that which they have fought 
so hard to achieve." R. Jess Brown, a black Jackson attorney and move­
ment supporter, took issue with the McComb statement, declaring that 
blacks needed to "fight on a battlefield" as part of the struggle to win 
freedom at home. And Charles Diggs, the black congressional repre­
sentative from Detroit, blasted the statement as "ridiculous and com­
pletely irresponsible."43 

The FDP leadership moved quickly to attempt to control the dam-
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age. Lawrence Guyot, chair of the FDP executive committee, and com­
mittee member Ed King issued a statement pointing out that the leaflet 
did not represent the policy of the MFDP, and Guyot later told the 
New York Times that if drafted, he would serve in the armed forces. 
But both men upheld "the right of our members to discuss and act 
upon all issues" and argued that it was "very easy to understand why 
Negro citizens of McComb, themselves the victims of bombings, Klan­
inspired terrorism, and harassment arrests, should resent the death of 
a citizen of McComb while fighting in Viet Nam for 'freedom' not 
enjoyed by the Negro community of McComb."44 

The McComb antiwar leaflet was one of the first broadsides call­
ing on young men to refuse to fight, a position that would gain wide­
spread acceptance among activists as the conflict in Southeast Asia 
intensified. But in the short run the Freedom Democratic party lost 
credibility at a time when it was most vulnerable to challenge by the 
"respectable" moderate coalition of Mississippi blacks and whites, who 
pledged allegiance to Lyndon Johnson's Vietnam policy and who ex­
ploited the McComb statement to their political advantage. The AFL­
CIO's Claude Ramsey went so far as to equate the FDP with the Ku 
Klux Klan and expressed the conviction that the "great majority of 
Mississippi Negroes . .. will continue to follow the responsible Negro 
leadership of this state in lieu of the anarchists in their midst today."45 

That "responsible Negro leadership" had benefited from the flap 
over Vietnam, the failure of the FDP congressional challenge, the de­
cision to fund MAP instead of CDGM, and from support by impor­
tant liberal Democrats in Washington. Moreover, passage of the i965 
Voting Rights Act worked more to the advantage of the NAACP-led 
faction than to that of the Freedom Democrats. Although white resis­
tance to black registration and voting continued in many areas of the 
state, the presence of federal registrars in problem counties soon made 
a dramatic difference. Now that registering to vote no longer carried 
with it grave risks, middle-class school teachers, entrepreneurs, and 
ministers got their names on the books and sought positions of politi­
cal leadership in their communities. Enforcement of the voting rights 
act also made possible the meteoric rise of Charles Evers. 

Evers became the subject of controversy the moment he returned 
to Mississippi in the summer of i963, when he announced shortly after 
his brother Medgar's funeral that he would assume the position of 
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NAACP state field secretary. For the previous seven years Charles had 
lived in Chicago, where by his own admission he had been a boot­
legger, numbers runner, and petty thief, as well as a teacher and tav­
ern owner. Back in Mississippi, Evers cultivated the image of the mav­
erick. Constantly at odds with his NAACP superiors in New York (who 
did not want to offer him the position of field secretary to begin with), 
he refused to cooperate with the COFO leadership and tried to under­
mine its programs. Yet early in 1965 Evers began to develop a power 
base in southwest Mississippi and, with the implementation of the 
voting rights act, registered thousands of black voters. 

Where COFO and the FDP had avoided the cult of the personal­
ity and fostered indigenous leadership, Evers was an old-fashioned 
political boss, whipping his troops into line, commanding their loy­
alty through the power of his personality. A charismatic figure, Evers 
combined flamboyant behavior with a down-home approach. He spoke 
the language of the people, and, like Sen. Joseph McCarthy, another 
successful demagogue, Evers appeared to revel in his reputation as an 
unsavory character. The national NAACP office could not control him; 
the Young Democrats kept him at arm's length; and the FDP looked 
on in dismay as he emerged as the most powerful black politician in 
the state. Eventually, all of these organizations would have to accept 
Charles Evers on his terms. 46 

Evers's political clout became apparent in the early summer of 
1966, when the Freedom Democratic party fielded a slate of candi­
dates to run against the white incumbents in the congressional primary 
elections. Short of staff and funds, the FDP candidates fared poorly, 
except in those counties controlled by Evers. in Claiborne and Jeffer­
son counties, for example, the FDP senatorial candidate, Rev. Clif­
ton R. Whitley, defeated incumbent James 0. Eastland. But in the 
general election, Evers put out the word that he was supporting East­
land's Republican opponent instead of Whitley, now running as an 
independent. The results were dramatic: where Whitley had polled 
1,639 votes in the Claiborne County primary with Evers's support, he 
received only 120 votes in the general election; and in Jefferson, his 
1,725 primary total fell to 69 votes in November. 47 FDP leaders were 
disappointed with the party's performance in the congressional elec­
tions and dismayed that black voters in the southwest were apparently 
securely in Evers's pocket. But the 1966 elections were to be overshad-
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owed by a much more newsworthy event- the Meredith March-which 
gave birth to the Black Power battle cry. 

When on June 5, i966, James Meredith set out alone to walk the 
220 miles from Memphis to Jackson, his stated purpose was to per­
suade Mississippi blacks that times had changed and that it was safe 
for them to register and vote. On the second day of his trip Meredith 
was shot and wounded by a sniper alongside the road, just inside the 
Mississippi border. The subsequent decision by all the major civil rights 
organizations to continue Meredith's journey led to the last great march 
of the civil rights years, one that from the outset was steeped in con­
troversy. In Greenwood, Stokely Carmichael stirred the crowd with 
his call for Black Power, and Americans became aware of the national­
ist sentiment that had been building within the movement for two 
years. The Meredith March once again propelled SNCC into the lime­
light and revealed the declining influence of Martin Luther King with 
militant activists. It also brought to the surface the growing antiwhite 
feelings among black activists and marked the beginning of the end 
of white participation in SNCC and CORE. 48 

Ironically, the march through Mississippi had a greater impact na­
tionally than locally, where it served mainly to deepen the divisions 
between moderates and militants in the black community. Guyot and 
other FDP leaders helped plan and organize the march and regis­
tered approximately four thousand new voters. But it was Stokely Car­
michael and Martin Luther King, not the Freedom Democrats, who 
commanded media attention, and the march did little to increase tra­
ditional political activity across the state. Some FDP activists, frus­
trated over the lack of progress on the political front, drew inspiration 
from the march to push FDP to embrace a Black Power agenda, one 
that would minimize or eliminate the participation of whites in the 
organization, and abandon the goal of achieving recognition by the 
national Democratic party. Yet while the party's rhetoric grew more 
strident over the next eighteen months, Guyot and the FDP executive 
committee continued to steer a middle course, alienating FDP from 
both SNCC radicals and NAACP stalwarts. Until the end, the Free­
dom party remained open to white participation; of the fifty to sixty 
women and men actively engaged in community organization in i966-
67, a substantial minority were whites, and FDP drew much support 
from the Delta Ministry, an organization supported by the National 
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Council of Churches that had begun operations in Mississippi in the 
fall of i964. 49 

Mississippi held state and local elections in i967, with both the 
NAACP-led coalition and the Freedom Democratic party fielding can­
didates for county and municipal positions ranging from justice of the 
peace to county sheriff. Nearly 200,000 blacks were now registered in 
Mississippi, and blacks constituted a voting majority in several locali­
ties. These numbers did not automatically translate into victories, as 
FDP learned in a special election held in the town of Sunflower, in 
Sen. James Eastland's home county. Finding widespread evidence of 
discrimination against potential black voters, the federal courts had 
declared the i965 Sunflower elections unconstitutional and had called 
a new election for May, i967. Although black voters outnumbered 
whites i85-154, whites won all of the races in the special election. 
Threats and economic intimidation played a role in the defeat, but 
disunity in the black community was also a factor. Joseph Harris, cam­
paign manager for Sunflower, later sadly observed, "Our people did 
not stick together." Faced with a black majority, white candidates for 
the first time solicited black votes, with apparent success. FDP's selec­
tion of candidates may also have been a factor. For example, more con­
servative black voters were not comfortable with the party's decision 
to run Otis Brown, Jr., a twenty-one-year-old former SNCC worker, 
for mayor. Although a majority of those voting were black, Brown lost 
his race to the white incumbent by 120-19i. so Such would not be the 
case in Holmes County, where a middle-class schoolteacher, Robert 
Clark, became the first African American to sit in the Mississippi leg­
islature in this century. 

Clark's election represented the high point of the Freedom Demo­
cratic party's i967 campaign. The Holmes County movement was 
unique. From the beginning it had been led by a group of land-owning 
black farmers who, with the help of SNCC workers and white volun­
teers, had organized the county's black majority into an effective po­
litical force. As a teacher, Clark was well known throughout the county, 
and his credentials served him well with members of the small black 
middle class. Clark's white opponent did not campaign for the black 
vote, and although there were irregularities on election day, a massive 
black turnout ensured Clark's narrow victory. Holmes County was a 
showcase of black organization and dedication, but in other counties 
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the i967 election results were mixed. Of the twenty-five candidates 
supported by the NAACP, eleven were elected, the majority in the 
southwestern counties organized by Charles Evers. The FDP ran sixty 
candidates, most as independents running in Delta counties, and only 
six won election. 51 

The most interesting political development that year was the agree­
ment that the two factions, the NAACP-led coalition and the FDP, 
would put their political differences aside and support all black can­
didates running for office. A statement released by Guyot and other 
FDP leaders noted that "although statewide unity in any organiza­
tional or formal fashion has not been achieved, there exists an infor­
mal and unarticulated agreement among the differing political camps 
within the Black community to coexist throughout the election year." 
Both sides realized that the common enemy was white supremacy and 
continued infighting among blacks would be counterproductive, if not 
suicidal. For the Freedom Democrats, it was now apparent that the 
party was at a crossroads. Funding had dried up, political support from 
outside the state had diminished, and, despite the Clark victory, the 
party had little to show for its efforts during the i967 election year. 
The NAACP and the Young Democrats, on the other hand, hoped to 
win recognition at the ig68 Democratic national convention but real­
ized that without the endorsement of the FDP people who had cap­
tured the nation's attention four years earlier in Atlantic City, their 
own efforts would lack legitimacy. Throughout the winter of i967- 68, 
both factions began to explore the possibility of sending a united dele­
gation to the ig68 convention to challenge the Mississippi segrega­
tionists. They took a major step toward this goal when Charles Evers, 
running for Congress in a special election, announced that the FDP's 
chair, Lawrence Guyot, would serve as his campaign chairman, with 
FDP national committeeman Ed King as his coordinator for speaking 
engagements. Evers lost the race in a runoff, but that he received the 
endorsement of his bitter rivals was a remarkable turn of events. 52 

The decision of FDP leaders to come to terms with their opponents 
and to mount another convention challenge did not sit well with many 
of the party's rank-and-file members. When in September, i967, the 
FDP executive committee announced that the party would challenge 
the regulars in ig68, dissidents spoke out against the move, recalling 
the failure of the i964 challenge and maintaining that FDP should 



Mississippi Movement 37 

work independently to build strong institutions in the black commu­
nity. But when it became apparent that the NAACP and the Young 
Democrats were organizing their own challenging delegation, Guyot 
let it be known that FDP would be willing to unite with the moder­
ates "in this political confrontation against Eastland's party." In late 
June the "loyalist" coalition took shape, composed of the state NAACP, 
the Prince Hall Masons, the Young Democrats, the (black) Mississippi 
Teachers Association, representatives from the labor movement, and 
the Freedom Democratic party. 53 

It was, on the surface, an unlikely alliance. Fannie Lou Hamer 
observed, "These same folks in i964 were willing to sell us down the 
drain and tried to do it." Rodding Carter, leader of the Young Demo­
crats, had in the past used the editorial columns of the Delta Demo­
crat Times to excoriate the FDP, charging that its ranks were infil­
trated by communists. And despite the decision to support Charles 
Evers in his congressional race, activists had not forgotten Evers rid­
ing roughshod over FDP in earlier organizational campaigns in south­
western Mississippi. Still, FDP was not in a position to mount a serious 
challenge of its own, and the alternative was to stay at home and have 
no impact on the convention proceedings. Scorning what he called 
"nothing but rhetoric on the left [where] you have a lot of radical the­
ory and little work is being done," Lawrence Guyot defended the deci­
sion to join the coalition: "This challenge is indigenous, issue oriented, 
and broad-based. This is a mass challenge and the people support it."54 

On August 11, ig68, the "loyalists" held their state convention at 
the Masonic Temple in Jackson, the scene of the FDP convention four 
years earlier. In contrast to that earlier gathering, the ig68 audience 
"seemed more affluent and content."55 The moderate faction was in 
control of the convention, with Aaron Henry as chair. Selection of the 
remaining delegates was a cut-and-dried affair. FDP's earlier insistence 
that it be allotted half the delegates gave way to reality, and the party 
ultimately agreed to accept ten of the forty-four convention seats. An 
at-large slate of delegates had been chosen in advance, agreed to by 
representatives of the six groups in the coalition. Thus FDP delegates 
not privy to that meeting were dismayed when nominations of FDP 
members from the floor did not draw support from its own party lead­
ership. The nominating committee had also agreed to support Rep. 
Robert Clark as the Loyalists' male representative to the Democratic 
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National Committee, but here Charles Evers engineered the conven­
tion's only surprise. Evers had finished second to Clark in the earlier 
vote, but when the NAACP leader was nominated from the floor an 
orchestrated demonstration broke out, with confetti falling from the 
balcony and a rock and roll band playing near the stage. FDP dele­
gate John Buffington remembered that when he rose to speak on the 
nomination, "One guy asked if I was for Charles Evers. I said 'No,' 
and the mike was cut off. I tried to speak and was pulled from the 
stage and my jacket was ripped." Evers won the vote by a landslide. 
One convention observer commented, "That's as close to a machine 
as you can get."56 

That the Loyalist delegation would be seated at the stormy Demo­
cratic National Convention in Chicago was a foregone conclusion. 
The white regulars had permitted only minimal black participation 
in the selection of delegates, and most whites were committed to the 
independent candidacy of Alabama governor George Wallace. All of 
the three major contenders for the presidential nomination- Hubert 
Humphrey, Eugene McCarthy, and George McGovern - had endorsed 
the Loyalist challenge well in advance of the convention. When the 
final votes were tallied, the national media trumpeted the victory as 
a triumph for the civil rights forces in Mississippi, and in a sense it 
was. But a different breed had captured the movement banner: ur­
ban, educated, and affluent, these new leaders had their own agenda. 
Few of them were organizers, and they had little contact with the 
black masses, for whom they professed to speak. The ig68 convention 
was in effect the swan song of the Mississippi Freedom Democratic 
party. It continued to function in areas such as Holmes County, where 
it had been strong. But attempts at reorganizing the party on the state 
level failed. Some FDP activists decided to work with the Loyalists, 
now the "official" Democratic party of Mississippi. Others, including 
FDP chair Lawrence Guyot, soon left the state. 57 

In 1992, more than two decades after the tumultuous events of 
the ig6os, the legacy of the Freedom Democratic party, and the SNCC 
and CORE activists who brought it into being, is visible across the 
face of Mississippi. Nearly two dozen African Americans are now in 
the state legislature; hundreds of blacks hold elective office on the local 
and county level. Most dramatic, a black man named Mike Espy is 
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a member of the United States Congress, representing the Delta dis­
trict that had been the scene of so much movement activity- and brutal 
white repression. Middle-class blacks have made tremendous strides 
since the ig6os, and the Jim Crow signs have long since disappeared. 
Perhaps the most revealing symbol of the new Mississippi is that the 
Jackson Clarion-Ledger, once the champion of white supremacy, led 
the battle to reopen the trial of Byron de la Beckwith, the man ac­
cused of the murder of Medgar Evers. 

And yet for most black Mississippians the present resembles too 
much the past. Poverty is endemic; educational and economic oppor­
tunities are limited; racism and its effects remain visible in every com­
munity in the state. Ironically, the men and women who made the 
movement of the ig6os-sharecroppers, maids, small farmers, and 
workers - have benefited least from the changes taking place over the 
past two decades. The vision of Fannie Lou Hamer, one of political 
and economic democracy, remains just that - another dream deferred. 
The proud history of the black struggle in Mississippi and throughout 
the South, the courage and humanity of thousands of people working 
to take charge of their destiny, tells us much about the possibilities 
for achieving racial justice in America. It is also a potent reminder 
of the distance yet to be traveled. 

NOTES 

1. Mississippi Constitution, 1890, Article 12, Sections pp. 240-43, 256; Neil R. 
McMillen, Dark Journey: Black Mississippians in the Age of Jim Crow (Urbana: Univer­
sity of Illinois Press, 1989), pp. 42-43; Jackson Daily News, June 23, 1946; U.S. Sen­
ate, 79th Cong., 2nd sess., Hearings before the Special Committee to Investigate Sena­
torial Campaign Expenditures, 1946 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing 
Office, 194 7), 88-90, 19. 

2. U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, With Liberty and Justice for All (Washing­
ton, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1959), pp. 50-51; John Barlow Martin, The 
Deep South Says Never (New York: Ballantine Books, 1957), pp. 28- 29; Reed Sarrat, 
The Ordeal of Desegregation (New York: Harper & Row, 1966), p. 302; New York Post, 
Nov. 30, 1955; Delta Democrat Times, Aug. 18, 1955; NAACP press release, Aug. 18, 
1955, and ''Are You Curious about Mississippi," undated NAACP press release, both in 
Papers of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, Library 
of Congress; the definitive book on the Citizens' Council is Neil R. McMillen, The Citi­
zens' Council: Organized Resistance to the Second Reconstruction, 1954-64 (Urbana: 
University of Illinois Press, 1971). On Medgar Evers, see Mrs. Medgar [Myrlie) Evers, 
with William Peters, For Us, the Living (New York: Ace Paperback Edition, 1970). 



40 JOHN DITTMER 

3. Quoted in David Halberstam, "Tallahatchie County Acquits a Peckerhead," 
Reporter, Apr. 19, 1956, p. 28; "Statistical Report of Medgar Evers for Year 1959, Janu­
ary I-December 5," NAACP prs. 

4. John Dittmer, "The Politics of the Mississippi Movement, 1954-1964," in Charles 
Eagles, ed., The Civil Rights Movement in America (Jackson: University Press of Missis­
sippi, 1986), pp. 72- n 

5. Ibid., p. 74; Clayborne Carson, In Struggle: SNCC and the Black Awakening 
of the 1960s (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1981), p. 78. 

6. Neil R. McMillen, "Black Enfranchisement in Mississippi: Federal Enforce­
ment and Black Protest in the 1960s," Journal of Southern History 43 (Aug. , 1977): 356; 
interview with Burke Marshall, Dec. 3, 1983, New Haven, Conn. 

7. Howard Zinn, SNCC: The New Abolitionists (Boston: Beacon Press, 1965), 
pp. 99- 101; Carson, In Struggle, pp. 97-98. 

8. Len Holt, The Summer That Didn't End (London: Heinemann, 1966), p. 158; 
unsigned letter, Aug. 6, 1964, in Elizabeth Sutherland, ed., Letters from Mississippi 
(New York: McGraw Hill, 1965) , pp. 213-14; Paul Good, The Trouble I've Seen: White 
Journalist/Black Movement (Washington, D.C. : Howard University Press, 1975), p. 170. 

9. Good, Trouble I've Seen, p. 172. 
10. Interview with Robert Moses, Aug. 15, 1983, Cambridge, Mass.; Paul Cowan, 

The Making of an Un-American : A Dialogue with Experience (New York: Viking Press, 
1970), pp. 40- 43; Memorandum, Casey Hayden to Jackson FDP, "Notes on Conversa­
tion with Al Lowenstein," July 14, 1964, copy in Jan Hillegas Private Collection, Jack­
son, Miss.; Ed King, interviewed by Anne Romaine, 1965, Highlander Center, Tenn., 
pp. 1-10, Anne Romaine Papers, State Historical Society of Wisconsin [SHSW], Madi­
son, Wis. 

11. Mary King, Freedom Song: A Personal Story of the 1960s Civil Rights Move­
ment (New York: William Morrow, 1987), p. 343; James Forman, The Making of Black 
Revolutionaries (New York: Macmillan, 1975; Open Hand paperback edition, 1985), 
p. 387; Jackson Daily News, Aug. 13, 1964; Holt, Summer That Didn't End, p. 165; 
New York Times, Aug. 22, 1964 . 

12. Joseph Rauh, interviewed by Anne Romaine, June 16, 1965, Washington, D.C., 
Romaine Papers; New York Times, Aug. 23, 1964. 

13. "Partial Proceedings of the Democratic National Convention, 1964, Creden­
tials Committee, Aug. 22, 1964," pp. 43-44, Joseph Rauh Papers, SHSW; New York Times, 
Aug. 23, 1964; Carson, In Struggle, p. 125. 

14. Lyndon Johnson, The Vantage Point: Perspectives of the Presidency, 1963-69 
(New York: Holt, Rhinehart and Winston, 1971), p. 101; Godfrey Hodgson, America 
in Our Time: From World War II to Nixon, What Happened and Why (New York, 
Vintage, 1978), pp. 213-14; Memorandum, Jack Valenti to President Johnson, July 20, 
1964, and Karl Rolvaag to Walter Jenkins, July 27, 1964, both in White House Central 
File [WHCF], Lyndon Baines Johnson Library [LBJ], Austin, Tex.; Joseph Rauh, inter­
viewed by Paige Mulholland, Aug. I, 1969, Washington, D.C., pp. 13-14, and Presi­
dent's Diary and Diary Backup, Aug. 15- 26, 1964, both in Oral History, LBJ. 

15. Intelligence Activities and the Rights of Americans, Book II, Final Report 
of the Select Committee to Study Governmental Operations, United States Senate (Wash­
ington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976), p. 117. 

16. Kenneth O'Reilly, Racial Matters: The FBJ's Secret File on Black America, 
1960-1972 (New York: Free Press, 1989), pp. 186-88; C. D. DeLoach to "Dear Bishop," 
Sept. 10, 1964, WHCF, Name File, LBJ; Diary and Diary Backup, Aug. 20-27, 1964, LBJ. 



Mississippi Movement 41 

17. David J. Garrow, Bearing the Cross: Martin Luther King, Jr., and the South­
ern Christian Leadership Conference (New York: William Morrow, 1986), p. 347 

18. New York Times, Aug. 26, 1964. 
19. Edwin King, '"Speak Truth to Power': The Mississippi Freedom Democratic 

Party," unpublished manuscript, pp. 126, 185-86; Joseph Rauh, Remarks at "Freedom 
Summer Reviewed" conference, Tougaloo, Miss., Nov. 1, 1974, pp. 35-36 (transcript in 
author's possession). 

20. New York Times, Aug. 26, 1964; Theodore White, The Making of the Presi­
dent, 1964 (New York: Atheneum), p. 335. Hubert Humphrey described his assignment 
in working out the compromise as "aggravating." Had he failed, would Johnson have 
chosen someone else as his vice-presidential nominee? "It is a question I have never 
been able to answer" (Hubert Humphrey, The Education of a Public Man: My Life 
and Politics [New York: Doubleday, 1976], pp. 299-300). 

21. Moses interview; Fannie Lou Hamer, interviewed by Robert Wright, 1968, 
Ruleville, Miss., Howard Civil Rights Documentation Project [CRDP], p. 29, How­
ard University Archives; Henry Sias, interviewed by Robert Wright, 1968, Issaquena 
County, Miss., Howard CRDP, p. 20; Fannie Lou Hamer, interviewed by Anne and 
Howard Romaine, 1965, Highlander Center, p. 12, Romaine Papers; Carson, In Strug­
gle, p. 126. 

22. Interview with Joyce Ladner, May 9, 1985, Washington, D.C.; Bob Moses, 
interview with Clayborne Carson, March 29, 1982, Cambridge, Mass., p. 38; Cleve­
land Sellers, with Robert Terrell, The River of No Return: The Autobiography of a 
Black Militant and the Life and Death of SNCC (New York: William Morrow, 1973), 
p. 111. 

23. Aaron Henry to President Lyndon B. Johnson, Aug. 30, 1964, Name File, LBJ; 
FDP, "The Convention Challenge," undated [fall, 1964], Robert Stone Papers (in the 
author's possession); Julius Lester, Look Out, Whitey! Black Power's Con' Get Your 
Mama (New York: Dial Press, 1968), p. 28; Forman, Black Revolutionaries, p. 423. 

24. Although chair of the Freedom Democratic Party, Guyot was not at the At­
lantic City convention; he was serving a sentence in the Hattiesburg jail during con­
vention week. 

25. Lawrence Guyot, interviewed by Anne and Howard Romaine, 1965, 
Highlander Center, p. 21, Romaine Papers; Southern Patriot, Nov., 1966; Leslie Burl 
McLemore, "The Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party: A Case Study of Grass-Roots 
Politics," Ph.D. diss., University of Massachusetts, 1971, pp. 176- n Written by a scholar­
activist who was close to the events he describes, this dissertation contains a wealth 
of valuable information. 

26. Robert Coles, "Social Struggles and Weariness," Psychiatry 27 (1964): 315, 308. 
27. Minutes, "Canton-Valley View Staff Meeting," Dec. 3, 4, 1964, Joann Ooi­

man Robinson Papers, SHSW. 
28. Moses interview; interview with David Dennis, July 12, 1983, Lafayette, La.; 

Carson, In Struggle, pp. 170-74. 
29. Morton Stavis, "A Century of Struggle for Black Enfranchisement in Missis­

sippi: From the Civil War to the Congressional Challenge of 1965 - And Beyond," Mis­
sissippi Law Journal, 57 (1987): 640-45; Lawrence Guyot and Michael Thelwell, "To­
ward Independent Political Power," Freedomways 6 (Third Quarter, 1966): 246-47; 
New York Times, Jan. 5, 1965. See also McLemore, "The Mississippi Freedom Demo­
cratic Party," chap. 4. 

30. Stavis, "Century of Struggle," pp. 647- 48, 660- 64; Guyot and Thelwell, "To-



42 JOHN DITTMER 

ward Independent Political Power," pp. 248-49. In regard to the position of the Johnson 
administration on the challenge, Drew Pearson reported that House Speaker Carl Al­
bert told Representative Ryan that "the full weight of the Johnson Administration leader­
ship would be thrown against him in favor of the Mississippians" (Washington Post, 
Jan. 8, 1965). 

3i. Memorandum to: Presidents of Branches, Youth Councils, College Chapters 
and State Conferences, from: John Morsell, Assistant Executive Director, re: Challenge 
to Mississippi Congressmen, March 22, 1965, NAACP Papers; Leon Shull, National Di­
rector, ADA, to National Officers, National Board, Chapter Chairmen, Dec. 19, 1964, 
and Memorandum from Lawrence Guyot to All Staff and FOP County Chairmen, 
Dec. 24, 1964, copies of both in the papers of the Student Nonviolent Coordinating 
Committee, reel 63; Stavis, "Century of Struggle," 658. 

32. Memorandum to: Leon Shull, From: Curtis B. Gans, Re: Atlanta Trip and 
Other Matters, Nov. 20, 1964, Americans for Democratic Action Papers, unprocessed 
collection, State Historical Society of Wisconsin. I am indebted to Steven M. Gillon 
for supplying me with a copy of this document. See also Gillan's Politics and Vision: 
The ADA and American Liberalism, 1947-1985 (New York: Oxford University Press, 
1987), pp. 161-63; Rowland Evans and Robert Novak, "Inside Report: Civil Rights­
Danger Ahead," New York Herald Tribune, Dec. 2, 1964, clipping in Edwin King Pa­
pers, Tougaloo College, Tougaloo, Miss. 

33. Moses interview; Gloster Current to Bishop Steven G. Spottswood, and Mem­
bers of the Board, Re: NAACP Withdrawal from COFO, Dec. 29, 1964, NAACP Pa­
pers; Ed King, interviewed by Anne Romaine, p. 10, Romaine Papers. 

34. Gloster Current to Charles Evers, July 17, 1964, NAACP Papers. 
35. Washington Post, Dec. 31, 1964; Current to Spottswood ... Dec. 29, 1964. 
36. Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party Newsletter, July 28, 1965, SNCC Papers, 

reel 69; New York Herald-Tribune, Aug. 9, 1965, clipping in Ed King Papers; Rowland 
Evans and Robert Novak, "Inside Report: The Mississippi Moderates," New York Herald­
Tribune, Aug. 9, 1965, clipping in Ed King Papers; William Simpson, "The Birth of 
the Mississippi 'Loyalist Democrats', (1965-1968)," Journal of Mississippi History 44 (Feb., 
1982): 28-29. 

37. R. Spencer Oliver to Mrs. Murnett Y. Washington, March 26, 1965, Hunter 
Morey Papers, SHSW; Ibid.; Elmer Cooper, untitled report on the Mississippi Young 
Democrats' Convention, Sept. 6, 1965, Wilson F. Minor, unedited news story for the 
New Orleans Times-Picayune, Wilson F. Minor Papers, Special Collections, Mitchell 
Memorial Library, Mississippi State University; McLemore, "The Mississippi Freedom 
Democratic Party," p. 414. 

38. Interview with Douglas Wynn, Dec. 4, 1984, Greenville, Miss. 
39. Dittmer, "Politics of the Mississippi Movement," pp. 166-67, n. 67. 
40. New York Times, Oct. 19, 1966; Robert Coles quoted in Citizens' Crusade 

Against Poverty, Board of Inquiry, "Final Report on the Child Development Group 
of Mississippi," p. 6, undated copy in Martin Luther King Papers, Martin Luther King 
Center [MLK], Atlanta, Ga.; James Ridgeway, "Shriver Drops CDGM," New Republic, 
Oct. 15, 1966. 

4i. Office of Economic Opportunity, Administrative History, Vol. I, Part 1, pp. 
66-70, LBJ; Jackson Clarion-Ledger, Aug. 23, 1966; New York Times, Mar. 7, 1966. 

42 . Jackson Clarion-Ledger, Sept. 30, 1966; MFDP, "What is MAP?" undated, 
Hillegas Collection; "Information on Mississippi Action for Progress: Who Are Their 



Mississippi Movement 43 

Board Members? What Are Their Ties?" undated, unsigned copy in Tom Levin Papers, 
MLK. 

43. MFDP Newsletter, July 28, 1965, SNCC Papers, reel 69; Joanne Grant, ed. , 
Black Protest: History, Documents, and Analyses, 1619 to the Present (Greenwich, Conn.: 
Fawcett, 1968) , pp. 415-16; McLemore, "Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party," pp. 
234-38. 

44. MFDP news release, "MFDP and Vietnam," July 31, 1965, Hillegas Collec­
tion; New York Times, Aug. 4, 1965. 

45. Mississippi AFL-CIO news release, "Statement by: Claude Ramsey, President," 
Aug. 2, 1965, Eugene Cox Papers, Box l, Mitchell Library, Mississippi State University. 

46. Charles Evers and Grace Halsell, Evers (New York: World Publishing Com­
pany, 1971) , pp. 96-106, 113; Gloster Current to Roy Wilkins, "Memorandum Re: Charles 
Evers," Sept. g, 1963, and Current to Evers, Aug. 21, 1963, both in NAACP Papers; 
"Report on a Meeting of Community Organizers in Mississippi," Oct. 29, 1966, Hille­
gas Collection. 

47. McLemore, "Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party," p. 314; "Official Vote 
Tabulation, State of Mississippi - Regular Election, Novem her 8, 1966, for Senator to 
the goth U.S. Congress by Counties," quoted in McLemore, ibid. , 335; "Report on a 
Meeting of Community Organizers." 

48. Steven F. Lawson, In Pursuit of Power: Southern Blacks and Electoral Poli­
tics, 1965-1982 (New York: Columbia University Press, 1985), pp. 52-62; Carson, In 
Struggle, pp. 207-11. 

49. Lawson, In Pursuit of Power, 62; Fannie Lou Hamer to Amzie [Moore], 
Oct. 24, 1966, Amzie Moore Papers, SHSW. 

50. New York Times, May 3, 1967; Southern Patriot, April , May, 1967; Sandra 
Nystrom and Eleanor Holmes Norton, "Times Changing in Sunflower," clipping in Anne 
and Carl Braden Papers, SHSW; New America, June 18, 1967; McLemore, "Mississippi 
Freedom Democratic Party," pp. 343-76; Lawson, In Pursuit of Power, pp. 99-102. 

5i. Lawson, In Pursuit of Power, p. 99; McLemore, "Mississippi Freedom Demo­
cratic Party," pp. 377-88. 

52 . "Mississippians to Elect Negro Candidates to 'Dear Friend,'" undated [ 1967 ], 
Amzie Moore Papers; McLemore, In Pursuit of Power, p. 396. 

53. Freedom Information Service, Mississippi Newsletter, Sept. 22, 1967, Hillegas 
Collection; McLemore, "Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party," pp. 420-21. 

54. Southern Patriot, Nov., Sept., 1968. 
55. McLemore, "Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party," p. 452. 
56 . Freedom Information Service, Mississippi Newletter, Aug. 16, 1968; Southern 

Patriot, Nov., 1968; McLemore, "Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party," p. 44i. 
57. Dittmer, "Politics of the Mississippi Movement," p. 92; Ibid. , McLemore, 

"Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party," pp. 456-57; Lawson, In Pursuit of Power, pp. 
115-18. 



GEORGE C. WRIGHT 

The Civil Rights Movement in Kentucky, 
1900-70* 

ANY ASSESSMENT of the civil rights movement must take a long-term 
view. If we are to understand the events of the i95os and ig6os, we 
must acknowledge the foundations laid by civil rights activists over 
the first half of the twentieth century. The central role of the NAACP 
in challenging Jim Crow through the courts is well-known; however, 
blacks throughout the South also campaigned at local levels to resist 
segregation. While these efforts were not successful, they reveal a core 
of strength that would later sustain the civil rights movement. A case 
study of the movement in Kentucky provides an excellent opportunity 
to trace the course of civil rights in this century. 

Though already living in a segregated society, black Kentuckians 
in the early igoos experienced new and even more restrictive Jim Crow 
practices that by the i93os resulted in their exclusion from white so­
ciety in virtually every way possible. At the turn of the century, a pub­
lic library opened in Louisville. Blacks complained to city officials about 
their exclusion from the library, often noting with bitterness that as 
taxpayers, they should have the right to enter any public facility. Li­
brary officials eventually grew tired of their complaints and began 
working with black leaders to secure financial support from industrial­
ist and philanthropist Andrew Carnegie to open two black libraries. 
Meanwhile, these officials continued prohibiting blacks from the li­
brary's main branch, a practice that remained in effect until i950. The 
Henderson Public Library opened in i904. Right from the start, the 
board of directors believed that allowing blacks access to the reading 
rooms and to borrow books "would totally destroy the usefulness of 
the Library to this community." To end black complaints, library offi­
cials moved a few books, which were "suited to the needs of the col­
ored population," to the Eighth Street Colored School. Library officials 
viewed this dual system as an ideal arrangement: it would satisfy blacks 
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by providing them with a library but, more importantly, as their re­
port frankly stated, "it would leave the white population of the city 
undisturbed in their use of the Library building."1 

Kentucky's black citizens were excluded from public hospitals even 
in life-threatening emergencies. In 1911, a black man was struck by a 
railroad train in Frankfort. Carried to the closest hospital, which was 
a white hospital, the man was refused admission because of his race. 
The man was then transported to the workhouse and left to die. On 
one occasion while responding to an alarm, several black firemen in 
Louisville were injured in a car collision. After being denied treatment 
at the public-supported Red Cross Hospital, they were taken to the 
all-black hospital. Unlike blacks in other Kentucky communities, Louis­
ville blacks were fortunate even to have their own hospital. Even Lex­
ington blacks did not have a hospital and usually received treatment 
and examinations by black physicians at a small "clinic."2 

Integration probably existed in city parks throughout the nine­
teenth century with segregation occurring in the first two decades of 
the new century. In Henderson, for example, blacks and whites co­
existed in Barret Park for years, but in 1903, white city officials and 
civic leaders called for limiting blacks to a specific area within the 
park. Hopkinsville instituted park segregation in the early lgoos by 
designating three playgrounds and two parks for whites, and one park 
for blacks. Racial integration existed in all of Lexington's parks until 
1916. But in that year Frederick Douglass Park opened in the far west 
end of the city. Given its location, the park was practically inacces­
sible to all but the few blacks who lived in that immediate area. Never­
theless, this was the only park for blacks, though there were several 
playgrounds scattered throughout the city for them. For decades in 
the nineteenth century, whites and blacks in Louisville had shared the 
same parks, which usually had swimming pools, tennis courts, and 
baseball fields. Between 1910 and 1920, however, the city opened a few 
designated all-black parks. Blacks were still admitted to other parks, 
but they were prohibited from the swimming pools and tennis courts. 
Park segregation officially started in July, 1924, with the passing of 
a city ordinance. Despite the denouncement of the ordinance by Louis­
ville blacks, it remained in place for thirty years. 3 

Beginning in the 1910s, whites in several Kentucky cities took steps 
to make certain that blacks remained excluded from white residential 
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areas. In Henderson, a deed restriction written into a 1913 mortgage 
said "It is understood and agreed that the property above conveyed 
is not to be transferred by sale or lease to a person or persons of color." 
Madisonville, a city where blacks comprised 40 percent of the popula­
tion, enacted a residential segregation ordinance in 1913. 4 Around 1910, 
a number of blacks began purchasing homes west of the downtown 
area in Louisville. Whites responded by passing the Louisville Resi­
dential Segregation Ordinance, which prohibited blacks from moving 
into designated all-white streets and whites from moving into all-black 
districts. After a three-year battle through the courts by the NAACP, 
the ordinance was overturned in November, 1917, by a unanimous deci­
sion of the United States Supreme Court. Yet the court's ruling did 
not lead to equal access to housing for Louisville blacks because they 
still confronted a number of obstacles - ranging from deed restrictions 
to overt violence - when they attempted to move to the westward areas 
of the city. Blacks were not able to move to Louisville's far-west end 
until the 1950s and 1960s. 5 

Blacks were clearly relegated to separate and inferior schools in 
Kentucky. The vast majority of Kentucky whites viewed black educa­
tion as a burden, spending only the minimum required by law, if even 
that small amount. For decades, a succession of white educators main­
tained that the end product of black education should be the accep­
tance by blacks of "their place" in Southern society. As superintendent 
of education George Colvin explained to Robert W. Bingham, editor 
of the high influential Louisville Courier-Journal, in 1923, it was essen­
tial that the state's black citizens be educated in the South, not the 
North. He believed that education in the North tended to give blacks 
false ideas about their importance and make them discontent with their 
menial jobs in the South. 6 

The "right education" for blacks consisted primarily of industrial 
skills and only the basics in academic areas. Not surprisingly, in most 
areas of the state, whites refused to provide schools for blacks beyond 
eighth grade. There were only nine black public high schools in op­
eration by the mid-1910s. This meant that the vast majority of Ken­
tucky's black citizens either ended their schooling at the completion 
of the eighth grade or looked to small, private, religious schools to pro­
vide them with high school courses. 

With whites unwilling to support black public education ade-
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quately, it should come as no surprise that the state's black institu­
tion of higher learning, Kentucky State College for Negroes, received 
funds only after allocations had been provided to white institutions 
of higher learning. Though labeled a college, Kentucky State was in 
reality a high school until the i92os, with most of the students com­
pleting two years of high school courses. Because the school's mandate 
was to train teachers (tuition was free to any student pledged to teach 
in Kentucky), the normal department was the first course of study es­
tablished at Kentucky State. The school also had agricultural, mechani­
cal, and domestic departments - programs viewed as essential for the 
growth of Kentucky's black population. 

Fortunately, in the early igoos, Kentucky blacks were not limited 
to this state-supported college. They also matriculated at Berea Col­
lege, a unique institution in the South. This private institution had 
been founded in i855 by John Fee and Cassius Clay, and immediately 
after the Civil War, it started admitting black students. Moreover, Berea 
went far beyond tokenism in admitting blacks: by the i88os, blacks 
comprised a little more than 60 percent of the student body. Also, 
James S. Hathaway, a black, served on the faculty. Considering the 
racism that dominated American society during the late-nineteenth 
century, Hathaway might have been the only black instructor in the 
nation teaching at a white college. 7 

To be sure, on occasion racial tension existed at the school, but 
Berea remained integrated even during the i8gos, when Pres. Wil­
liam G. Frost advocated a sharp reduction in the enrollment of black 
students. But the likelihood that Berea College could maintain its com­
mitment to integrated education against the rising tide of racism, was 
very small indeed. In November, i903, Carl Day, a state representa­
tive from Breathitt County, an area with only a handful of blacks, 
toured the Berea campus and expressed his outrage at the sight of blacks 
and whites "living together." In January, i904, he introduced a bill, 
directed only at Berea, that imposed a one thousand dollar fine with 
one hundred dollars per day penalty upon any institution admitting 
both white and black students. The Berea Board of Trustees challenged 
the Day Law through the courts. Nevertheless, it was upheld in the 
Madison Circuit Court in October, i904, the Kentucky Court of Ap­
peals in June, igo6, and the United States Supreme Court in Novem­
ber, igo8. 8 
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In addition to combating discriminatory measures, Kentucky 
blacks faced other severe challenges, with lynching perhaps the most 
consistent and troubling. The exact number of blacks lynched in Ken­
tucky from the end of the Civil War to 1940 will never be known 
because some of them were never reported. During these years at least 
353 people died at the hands of lynch mobs. Of this number, 258, or 
73 percent, were blacks. It is important to understand that the num­
ber of lynchings excludes completely the blacks whose lives were 
"spared" by the mobs on the promise that the state would quickly exe­
cute them. 9 

Indeed, this practice of "Legal Lynchings" was the most difficult 
violence that blacks encountered because it operated under the sanc­
tion of the law. From the Civil War until the 1940s, and indeed later, 
any number of blacks were tried in hostile environments with judges 
and juries convinced of their guilt before hearing any evidence. A few 
"trials" took less than an hour before finding the black defendant guilty 
and sentencing him to death. In Kentucky, from 1890 to 1940, of the 
187 people executed under these circumstances, 106 were blacks. In 
other words, blacks, comprising no more than 10 percent of the popu­
lation, accounted for 57 percent of those executed. 10 

Such transgressions against blacks in Kentucky did not go un­
challenged. Throughout this period that saw the institutionalization 
of Jim Crow and increased violence, blacks in the Bluegrass State sought 
the means to resist. The NAACP became the driving force of the civil 
rights movement in Kentucky. From its start in Kentucky in 1914, the 
organization had protested lynchings and mob violence, Jim Crow pub­
lic transportation, residential segregation, and discrimination in public 
education. During the late 1920s, the NAACP became involved in a 
case in the small community of Allensville, in western Kentucky, when 
a precinct official refused to allow a black man, Samuel Smith, to cast 
his ballot in the primary election. With the aid of the NAACP's na­
tional office, Smith secured the services of a white attorney from Rus­
sellville. A court date was scheduled, but in return for Smith drop­
ping the suit, the defendant agreed to pay Smith's attorney's fees and 
court costs, and not to restrict him or other blacks from voting. This 
was an important victory for the NAACP. 11 

Making inroads against the state's dual school system presented a 
great challenge to the NAACP. On one occasion Charles H. Houston, 
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chief legal counsel for the NAACP, received a report from Harry M. 
Jones, an attorney in Wheeling, West Virginia, about black educa­
tion in Kentucky. In December, i937, Jones concluded: "I am satisfied 
from my cursory review of this subject that in Kentucky we have a 
glaring example of perhaps the rottenest bi-racial school arrangement 
in this country; ... that Kentucky is not square with its Negro chil­
dren, and that they cannot have under such a set up equal and neces­
sary facilities."12 In other words, the officials of the NAACP knew that 
they would encounter staunch resistance from white Kentuckians when 
attempting to desegregate the public schools. 

Several attempts to desegregate higher education occurred in Ken­
tucky in the mid-193os. That they failed can be blamed on the opposi­
tion of the governors and other state officials who became adept at 
delaying desegregation. Albert Benjamin "Happy" Chandler served as 
governor during the first of these attempts in i936. Historians have 
not written the last word on Chandler and race relations. He has been 
applauded for being the commissioner of major league baseball to 
break the color barrier. Yet a recent scholar suggests that Chandler 
actually had very little to do with the Brooklyn Dodgers signing Jackie 
Robinson. 13 Regardless of Chandler's stance in i947, it is clear that dur­
ing the i93os, he was no more willing than other Kentucky politicians 
to dismantle the state's Jim Crow practices. Kentucky's black press re­
peatedly criticized Chandler for refusing to speak out against mob rule 
and lynchings and the deplorable state of black schools during his cam­
paign for governor in i935. After the election, Chandler and his asso­
ciates stated publicly that the black vote had been cast for his oppo­
nent, implying that he owed no political debt to blacks. 14 

Shortly after assuming office, Chandler was approached by 
Charles W. Anderson, the chief legal counsel of the NAACP in Ken­
tucky, about the admission of black graduate students to the Univer­
sity of Kentucky. His reply is well known: "Such will not happen in 
your time nor mine." One interpretation of Chandler's statement might 
be that school desegregation, though a desirable goal, was unlikely 
to occur given the desire of white Kentuckians for segregated institu­
tions. A more likely interpretation was that the governor did not favor 
such a radical step. Indeed, when prodded by Anderson, Chandler 
pointedly refused to endorse desegregation of the state university. 15 

Chandler's commitment to segregation surfaced again three years 
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later, when Alfred M. Carroll, a black twenty-year-old native of Louis­
ville, applied for admission to the University of Kentucky Law School. 
A graduate of Wilberforce College in Ohio, Carroll was attending 
Howard University's law school but desired to return home to com­
plete his legal training. Carroll's application led to action from 
Chandler. From his Emergency Fund, Chandler allocated sixteen hun­
dred dollars to the fund established by the state to send black students 
to graduate and professional schools in other states. Previously, Chand­
ler had refused to increase the money in this fund, even though black 
leaders had argued that the money in the fund was insufficient to meet 
the demand. Along with this action, the governor made one of his 
harsher statements and warned blacks against demanding admission 
to the University of Kentucky. 16 

In a letter to Carroll, Alvin E. Evans, dean of the law school, ex­
plained that Carroll's application had been denied for two reasons: 
first, because of Kentucky's laws against school integration, and sec­
ond, because he had not graduated from an accredited college. 17 Af­
ter a thorough review of the Carroll case, Thurgood Marshall of the 
NAACP, strongly advised Charles Anderson to drop the case. Marshall 
wrote: "The Dean of the Law School took the position that since Car­
roll was a graduate of Wilberforce and since Wilberforce was not an 
accredited school, then there might be difficulties in admitting him. 
. . . We are of the opinion that we should not follow this case through 
of a technicality that Wilberforce is not an accredited school." Mar­
shall, concerned about the momentum of the NAACP in its college 
desegregation cases, knew well that a defeat in court would set back 
the entire cause. Surely another candidate could be found to desegre­
gate the University of Kentucky, he concluded. 18 

Such a candidate appeared in October, i941, when seventeen-year­
old Charles Eubanks, an honor student from Louisville Central High 
School, filed suit in Fayette Circuit Court, seeking admission to the 
University of Kentucky School of Engineering. Eubanks explained that 
he applied to the state university because none of the black colleges 
offered civil engineering. The assistant state attorney general's com­
ments about the Eubanks's suit foreshadowed the position that the uni­
versity and state officials would adopt: "The Attorney General's office 
believes it is a part of an organized effort to stir up class feelings. The 
colored people and the white people have been getting along fine in 
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Kentucky and we don't like the idea of stirring things up." Charles W. 
Anderson and his law partner, Prentice Thomas, were hired as counsel 
for Eubanks. Throughout the case they relied on the assistance of the 
NAACP's Thurgood Marshall.19 

At the urging of Gov. Keen Johnson and University of Kentucky 
president Herman L. Donovan, an engineering school was promptly 
created at Kentucky State College. State officials openly acknowledged 
that the program was an attempt to prevent the desegregation of the 
University of Kentucky by providing separate but equal opportuni­
ties. The admission requirements at both the white and black schools 
were the same. Students enrolling in engineering courses at Kentucky 
State were to be charged the same fees as those at the white school. 20 

After reviewing the engineering program at Kentucky State, several 
spokesmen for the University of Kentucky proclaimed that Eubanks's 
suit was moot, that the state had provided separate but equal facilities 
for blacks. The NAACP, however, had a vastly different view of the 
engineering program: "It was found on inspection that the Engineer­
ing School at Kentucky State has only one teacher, not an engineer, 
but a bachelor of science in industrial education. The school is prac­
tically without equipment. The curriculum is not an engineering course 
but an industrial course which includes such subjects as welding." 
Eubanks refused to attend the school. 21 

To forestall the Eubanks case, the state relied on delaying tac­
tics for over three years. This strategy proved successful when the suit 
was dismissed due to a lack of prosecution. Kentucky law permitted 
the dismissal of any case if no action occurred over a two-year pe­
riod and state officials managed to stall the proceedings long enough. 
Thurgood Marshall called the outcome of the Eubanks case an "awful 
licking."22 

Defeat in the Eubanks case made the NAACP more determined 
than ever to make its next attempt to desegregate the state university 
a solid case, with an applicant of unquestionable credentials. It took 
three years, but on March i5, i948, Louisville school teacher Lyman T. 
Johnson applied for admission to the graduate program in history at 
the University of Kentucky. A native of Tennessee, Johnson held an 
A.B. degree from Virginia Union University, an M.A. degree from the 
University of Michigan, and had taken a number of courses toward 
a Ph.D. at the University of Wisconsin. Upon arriving in Louisville 
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in the early 1930s, he became involved with the NAACP, even serving 
as president, a step normally not taken by public school employees. 
In Johnson, the NAACP had found a person with the right educational 
background and who would not quit for any reason. 23 

These two attributes of Johnson became very important because 
the University of Kentucky was determined to resist. Upon rejecting 
his application, university officials released a statement to the press 
that read: "Our policy has been pretty well defined. We are prohibited 
by State law and the State Constitution from accepting the registra­
tion of a Negro." University officials, as they had in the Eubanks 
challenge, then went on the offensive, calling for "equal" opportuni­
ties for blacks at Kentucky State. The governor did his part, giving 
Kentucky State twenty-five thousand dollars from his emergency fund 
to help develop new undergraduate and graduate courses. 24 

By July, 1948, only a few months after Johnson had applied for 
admission to the state university, new courses were offered at Kentucky 
State. Black teachers also put pressure on the university. Desiring to 
take courses in the summer, they applied to various departments at 
the University of Kentucky. The departments, in turn, selected stu­
dents for admission but channeled them to summer school at Kentucky 
State. Professors at the University of Kentucky sent bibliographies to 
Kentucky State and aided the black school in selecting books for the 
library. With graduate courses at Kentucky State now providing an 
alternative to leaving the state for graduate training, thirty blacks, in­
cluding Lyman Johnson, enrolled in the summer of 1948. White pro­
fessors from the University of Kentucky drove to Frankfort to teach 
the courses. 

Nevertheless, Johnson and the NAACP continued pressing for his 
right to attend the state university. The suit stated that Johnson's ap­
plication had been rejected solely because of his race. At the pretrial 
conference the NAACP raised three issues: whether provisions had been 
made for the education of Negroes in the graduate school at Kentucky 
State; whether the provisions allegedly made by the defendants for 
the graduate education of Negroes in Frankfort satisfied the Fourteenth 
Amendment; and whether any facilities established on the basis of seg­
regation solely because of race or color could satisfy the requirements 
of the Fourteenth Amendment. The University of Kentucky argued 
that because of the graduate programs at Kentucky State, the will-
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ingness of the state to purchase books for Kentucky State's library, and 
the arrangement of the professors traveling to Frankfort, equality ex­
isted for blacks in education. 25 

As the trial approached, the NAACP took steps to strengthen its 
case. Experts from a wide range of disciplines were prepared to testify 
that the books and facilities at Kentucky State were inadequate and 
could not compare with those at the state university. Since Lyman 
Johnson sought a graduate degree in history, the NAACP decided to 
have the nation's foremost black historian, John Hope Franklin of 
Howard University, testify regarding the value of the training Johnson 
might receive at Kentucky State: 

We would like from you testimony showing the need for an extensive li­
brary in order to pursue the subjects which Johnson desires to take; the 
value in having other students in a class with him, they would be able 
to interchange ideas, the necessity for having professors available for con­
sultation and assistance after hours; the necessity for having an extensive 
library within easy access over and above whatever bibliography might 
be furnished by UK. 

Franklin traveled to Lexington for the trial, although he was not called 
to testify. Nevertheless, Franklin's presence showed the thoroughness 
of NAACP's preparation for the case. 26 

On March 30, i949, Judge H. Church Ford of the United States 
District Court reached a quick decision, a judgment in favor of Ly­
man Johnson and the NAACP. He said, "How can anyone listen to this 
evidence without seeing that it is a makeshift plan?" The University 
of Kentucky was under an obligation to admit qualified black students, 
Judge Ford forcefully explained, since the state had failed to provide 
graduate and professional schools for blacks that in any respect equaled 
the university for whites. That summer, Johnson and thirty other blacks 
desegregated the University of Kentucky. 27 

After the successful completion of the Johnson suit, the NAACP 
called for the admission of blacks to all colleges in Kentucky, but the 
decades-old Day Law remained a barrier for the time being. One year 
later, however, in i950, the state legislature handed a death blow to 
the Day Law and allowed colleges on both the undergraduate and 
graduate levels to desegregate at their own choosing. Immediately 
thereafter, several Catholic colleges in Louisville announced the ad-
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mission of black students and the closing of Louisville Municipal Col­
lege for Negroes. 28 

With the success of college desegregatiop, Kentucky black lead­
ers, like the NAACP and others nationally, ne~t moved to public school 
desegregation in the early 1950s. Because of the logistic~ involved, the 
attitude of most whites to "go slow" and, perhaps most importantly, 
the Supreme Court decision to postpone for a year its final ruling on 
how school desegregation was to proceed, the dual school system re­
mained intact for the school year 1954- 55. Nevertheless, the Brown de­
cision influenced Kentucky's education. By mid-1955, after the Court's 
ruling in "Brown II," (where the justices were purposefully vague, say­
ing that desegregation was to occur with "all deliberate speed"), the 
first tentative steps toward school desegregation were taken in the state. 
The Kentucky Department of Education issued a directive to all pub­
lic school districts to move rapidly to end school segregation. All dis­
tricts, at the very least, were to begin studying ways of implementing 
the court decision and working with community leaders. 29 

While applauding the work of the Kentucky Department of Edu­
cation and positive comments made by white Kentuckians, the NAACP 
was determined to push for immediate integration or, at the very least, 
the completion of a desegregation plan with deadlines for school in­
tegration. As Roy Wilkins, executive secretary of the NAACP, noted, 
" Kentucky is one of the key states. We expect it to move off in a good 
fashion, helping to bring pressure on public opinion against those loudly 
publicized areas which are resisting the Court's opinion." Realizing 
that a successful lawsuit would go a long way toward school desegrega­
tion in Kentucky, the NAACP carefully investigated all of the school 
districts and filed suit in federal court on September 1, 1Q55, against 
the Columbia school district. Attorney James A. Crumlin, state presi­
dent of the NAACP, argued that the twenty-five blacks of high school 
age living in Columbia must be admitted to the white high school. 
Board members countered by explaining that the high school was al­
ready overcrowded with its 541 white students, and desegregation would 
create additional problems that had to be resolved before blacks could 
be admitted to Columbia High. On December 1, Federal District Judge 
Mac Swinford ruled that the high school in Columbia must open its 
doors to black students on February 1, and that the elementary school 
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would be desegregated when school started in September, i956. Go­
ing further, the judge forcefully argued that the education of all young 
people was so important in American society that the learning process 
could not be delayed, and that overcrowded conditions simply was not 
a valid excuse. 30 

Two highly publicized events occurred during the school year of 
i956-57: the sending of the National Guard to protect black students 
at Sturgis and the peaceful entrance of blacks into the white public 
schools in Louisville. On Friday, August 31, eight black students en­
rolled in Sturgis High School. The following Tuesday, the first day of 
class, the black students were blocked from entering the school by a 
white mob estimated at about three hundred. The students, unsure 
of what steps to take, returned home. Members of the school board 
and city officials refused to stop the mob, though several white leaders 
said that the black students were actually not threatened with vio­
lence. The next day, however, Gov. Albert B. Chandler (who had been 
re-elected for a second term in i955, after serving in the United States 
Senate and as commissioner of major league baseball) ordered the state 
police and the Kentucky National Guard to Sturgis. Many Kentucki­
ans praised Chandler's actions, saying that he had prevented blood­
shed, while others proclaimed just as loudly that it was a grandstand 
move on his part. In the presence of more than one thousand angry 
whites, including many outside segregationists who came to Sturgis 
to lend their support, the black students entered the school on Sep­
tember 6 under protection of two hundred heavily armed guardsmen. 
For the next week, blacks attended Sturgis High under these condi­
tions, while more than 50 percent of the white students boycotted 
the school. Eventually, the state attorney general ruled that, since the 
school board had failed to develop a definite integration plan, the black 
students were prohibited from further attendance at the school. Act­
ing on this advice, the school board voted to bar the blacks until a 
satisfactory plan had been formulated. The black students remained 
determined to attend the school, but on September ig, they were re­
fused admission by the principal, to the delight of the white mob. 
Rather than return to Dunbar, the black high school, the eight stu­
dents chose to remain out of school for the entire academic year. The 
following school year, the Sturgis Board of Education closed the black 
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high school and transferred all black students to Sturgis High. Unlike 
in 1956, no racial incidents occurred in 1957 when blacks were ad­
mitted to the school. 31 

Undeterred by the threat of a violent outbreak in Sturgis, the 
Louisville Board of Education launched its desegregation plan that 
same September. For more than a year, the Louisville NAACP had 
denounced the school board for delaying the start of school integra­
tion. Superintendent Omer Carmichael had ignored criticism by blacks, 
saying that it was important for the desegregation plan to be well in 
place before proceeding. It is clear from all of his actions that Car­
michael wanted whites' approval of school integration. Though his de­
segregation plan contained several parts, including the redistricting 
of all of the students to the school closest to their homes, his scheme 
actually relied on "permissiveness," with the school board opposing 
compulsory segregation and integration. Under Carmichael's plan, 
"freedom of choice" was all-important. Blacks could, if they desired, 
attend mixed (desegregated) schools while whites could attend all-white 
schools. Because of housing patterns in Louisville, there were many 
all-white residential areas, and the whites living in close proximity to 
blacks could easily avoid integration by sending their children to schools 
in the exclusive white districts. Though the Louisville School System 
was widely heralded in 1957 for peacefully desegregating its schools, 
very little integration occurred, with only a few blacks enrolling in 
white schools and no whites going to black schools. 32 

Given these halting attempts to establish plans for integrating 
schools and to implement these plans, schools in Kentucky did desegre­
gate over the next decade - at least on paper. By the school year of 
1964-65, 95.2 percent of the school districts had desegregated. Eleven 
school districts with small black populations continued to operate seg­
regated schools, and they took great pains to reassure state education 
officials that school integration was "forthcoming." In reality, several 
mountain school districts simply evaded the law, sending their black 
students to other school districts instead of admitting them to white 
schools. The desegregation plans from Glasgow, Mount Sterling, and 
Montgomery County school districts were extremely vague (probably 
on purpose), saying that blacks enjoyed the privilege of attending the 
mixed or all-black schools, though it seems as if the only option given 
blacks was to remain in all-black schools. And despite the repeated 
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threats of the NAACP, Shelby County, which had a large black popula­
tion, resisted desegregation until the mid-196os. Only one community 
in the entire state- Graves County-had failed to adopt a desegrega­
tion plan, though officials from the area, fully aware of the court's man­
date of "all deliberate speed," consistently expressed their willingness 
to begin investigating steps that would lead to interracial schools. The 
failure of school desegregation in Graves County, however, was no sur­
prise because blacks had experienced much violence and racial dis­
crimination in this western Kentucky community since the Civil War. 33· 

Significantly, upon close examination, many school boards, though 
claiming that integration had taken place, had blacks attending only 
a few of its schools. Not only was this the case in Louisville, but in 
Lexington as well. As Kentucky's most noted historian, Thomas D. 
Clark, explained, "Lexington made fewer plans and embarked on de­
segregation of its schools on a less extensive scale than Louisville. In 
ig66 the United States Office of Education was critical of what had 
been accomplished in the Lexington area in light of the new mandates 
of the Civil Rights Law of i964." In an attempt to conform to the 
law, school officials changed a former all-black school into a junior 
high school for all students and sent black high school students to a 
previously all-white school. This move greatly upset many white par­
ents who opposed sending their children to the junior high since it 
was located in a black neighborhood. Eventually the Lexington Board 
of Education closed all of the schools in black communities, meaning 
that whites attended schools in close proximity to their homes while 
blacks were compelled to travel great distances to schools. 34 

Integrating the public schools was not the only goal of the civil 
rights movement that gained momentum after the Brown decision. 
These same years witnessed efforts by blacks and a handful of liberal 
whites to achieve equal access to public accommodations. Desegre­
gating the downtown areas in Kentucky's cities proved to be a difficult 
struggle. In Louisville, a city that prided itself on being "liberal," more 
than three and one-half years of negotiating and demonstrating ­
including a boycott of white merchants during the Easter season of 
ig6i and the exertion of political power by blacks -were necessary to 
desegregate all of the businesses. Lexington experienced similar demon­
strations before conditions changed there in i963. Achieving equal ac­
commodations in smaller cities was much more problematic, and black 
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leaders realized that only intervention by the state legislature could 
insure success. Accordingly, they urged Gov. Burt Combs, who had 
consistently expressed sympathy for the goals of the civil rights move­
ment, to throw the weight of his office behind a measure to end all 
vestiges of Jim Crow in Kentucky. Governor Combs called upon the 
General Assembly to act, but was informed by leaders of the house 
and senate that an anti-discrimination law stood no chance of pass­
ing. Determined not to be thwarted by the assembly, on June 26, i963, 
the governor issued an executive order that ended racial discrimina­
tion in all establishments and professions licensed by the state. This 
broad ordinance covered virtually every area of secular activity in Ken­
tucky, "outside of the private homes of citizens."35 

The struggle to achieve access to public accommodations fore­
shadowed the strong opposition blacks encountered when protesting 
discrimination in employment and housing. Indeed, in a real sense, 
the victory in the public accommodations phase was a moderate one: 
blacks were asking for the right to spend their money in white estab­
lishments. Furthermore, the considerable pressure exerted by blacks 
forced the governor to act to break down the intransigence of whites 
on the issue. Not surprisingly, therefore, many whites viewed the call 
by blacks for equal employment opportunities as a real threat to them­
selves and their livelihood. Many whites who had been sympathetic 
to the movement to end public accommodation discrimination assumed 
that employment opportunities were based on education and merit, 
not race, and that once blacks had acquired the right skills they would 
face no problems in this area. Housing also met strong resistance. Some 
whites were opposed to blacks living in their neighborhoods solely on 
racial grounds. Others were unconvinced that discrimination excluded 
blacks from white communities. They believed, in spite of any evi­
dence of discrimination uncovered by blacks, that it was in the eco­
nomic best interest of realtors to sell homes to anyone willing to pay 
the price to move into certain neighborhoods. Thus, what kept blacks 
out of white neighborhoods was the inability to meet housing costs. 

Just how difficult it was for blacks to move into well-to-do neigh­
borhoods emerged from a i958 account by socialist Ann Braden. In 
this very dramatic account, Andrew Wade, a successful black busi­
nessman, found it impossible to purchase a decent house in Louisville 
in the early i95os. There were two problems: Louisville was a town 
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of "unspoken restrictive covenant," effectively keeping blacks out of 
white neighborhoods. Secondly, no new housing for blacks had been 
constructed since before World War II. Wade, an associate of Carl and 
Ann Braden in an interracial organization, had the couple purchase 
a home for him in the all-white suburb of Shively in 1954· Immedi­
ately after it became known that Wade and his family, not the Bradens, 
lived in the house there were demands that they vacate the area. The 
builder, James Rone, and the bank holding the mortgage tried to find 
violations in the contract that the Bradens had committed in trans­
ferring the house to Wade in hopes of voiding the sale. The Bradens, 
of course, were accused of being Communist agents. Wade, an electri­
cian in business with his father, saw his company suffer as economic 
pressure was applied to force him to move from Shively. On Saturday 
night, May 15, ten shots were fired into his home. The house was dam­
aged, but the Wades refused to move. Meanwhile, the Bradens were 
also the targets of white abuse, even from the usually reasoned and 
moderate voice of the Courier-Journal, which blamed them for the 
May 15 violence. The drama reached a peak on the night of June 27, 
when Wade's house was substantially damaged by a bomb. All of the 
white residents on the street had been warned of the impending bomb­
ing and had left their homes. Failing to apprehend the bombers, the 
police blamed the Bradens for the violence, saying that it had been 
a ploy on their part to win support for the Communist cause. Carl 
Braden was arrested, convicted, and sent to prison on a state sedition 
law. Sentenced to fifteen years in prison and fined five thousand dollars, 
he was eventually freed in April, 1956, when the United States Su­
preme Court overturned Kentucky's sedition laws. Wade and his family 
never returned to the house; in August, 1957, he put up a For Sale sign 
and eventually sold the property. 36 

Wade's story is unique. The vast majority of blacks did not chal­
lenge segregated neighborhoods in such a confrontational mode. What 
his story makes clear is that in the mid-195os most white Kentuckians 
were willing to break the law in order to sidestep integration. In this, 
they were not so different from whites throughout the nation. It took 
another ten years for the federal government and the state of Ken­
tucky to enact laws to end racial discrimination in housing, and even 
then such legislation faced controversy and strong opposition. A far­
reaching piece of legislation, Title VIII of the 1968 Civil Rights Act, 
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was designed to end virtually every type of discrimination in hous­
ing. The major problem with Title VIII, like so much of the legisla­
tion passed during the civil rights movement, became enforcement of 
the law. Shortly after the law went into effect, an official for the Hous­
ing Information Service in Louisville noted, "Ordinance or no ordi­
nance, finding homes for Negroes is hard." As numerous surveys of 
housing discrimination attest, this remained the case throughout the 
next decade, and up to the present. 37 

Throughout the civil rights movement, black leaders called for 
increased employment opportunities for their race, and without ques­
tion, the mid-196os witnessed breakthroughs regarding employment. 
Practically every city publicized the "first black" to be employed in 
certain jobs. This was most apparent in government jobs on the local 
and state levels. However, employment breakthroughs for blacks can 
be easily overstated. For, in reality, many of the changes were token 
or they affected only the very small percentage of blacks holding ad­
vanced degrees. In practically every year of the i97os, the Kentucky 
Commission of Human Rights published data on black employment 
in the public and private sector. These well-researched reports painted 
a dismal picture, explaining in great detail that in most areas of pri­
vate employment blacks were completely excluded from managerial 
positions. Furthermore, the employment gains that they made went 
largely to men as black women remained underemployed in the work 
force. Also, though institutions of higher education had declared a 
strong desire to find and secure the services of qualified blacks as pro­
fessors and administrators, very few blacks had been hired in Ken­
tucky's colleges and universities. For example, at the University of Ken­
tucky, the University of Louisville, and other predominantly white 
state universities and colleges, only a small fraction of the faculty­
numbering no more than 1 or 2 percent-were black throughout the 
i97os. Another revealing look at black employment in many Kentucky 
cities can be gleaned from local histories, like the one on Henderson, 
which have been published in the last decade. In Henderson, and else­
where, very few blacks have been hired as policemen, firemen, or for 
administrative and secretarial jobs in Henderson city government. By 
ig8o, such communities had no black workers while others had only 
one in each department of city government. A journey through any 
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Kentucky city indicates that even fewer changes have occurred in the 
private sector, especially above entry-level positions. This is especially 
true in Louisville, Lexington, and Frankfort as blacks still remain mired 
in service and lower-level jobs. In the final analysis, black progress in 
employment has occurred but has fallen far short of the expectations 
of the civil rights movement. Furthermore, many of the gains proved 
to be short-lived as blacks were the first to experience layoffs and un­
employment when the economy worsened in the state and nation dur­
ing the late i97os and early ig8os. 38 

In ig66, Frank Stanley, the editor of a black weekly newspaper 
in Louisville, wrote an article, "The Negro in Kentucky: Is His Appar­
ent Progress More Apparent Than Real," assessing the status of blacks. 
According to Stanley, on the surface blacks were making tremendous 
progress in the state, but the facts showed this to be far from the case. 
Blacks remained relegated to low-paying jobs and living in segregated 
neighborhoods and slums. He pointed out that: "Negroes generally­
the masses - have not benefitted greatly from local, state and federal 
civil-rights laws. The barometer is the widening of the economic gap 
between Negroes and whites both on a per capita and a per family 
average." In a very strongly worded passage, Stanley further explained: 

Frankly, the average Caucasian Kentuckian is mostly unaware of the im­
portant goals yet to be achieved, or more specifically, of the amount of 
non-progress that has been made. Certainly most are totally incapable 
of realizing the tortures of hellish racial prejudice and what it does to 
the souls and minds of people who are forced to suffer it . ... The plain 
truth is, regardless of how many civil rights laws we pass, Negroes cannot 
win complete equality or total integration without broad crash programs 
for full employment, abolition of slums, the reconstruction of our educa­
tion system and new definitions of work and leisure. 39 

As we look back on the civil rights movement in Kentucky, there 
is much in Stanley's assessment that rings as true in the iggos as it did 
in ig66. The civil rights movement there, as elsewhere, has led to two 
black Americas. One group of blacks received the very best education 
and eventually enjoyed what seemed to be unlimited employment op­
portunities. On the other hand, the vast majority of blacks seems to 
have been missed entirely by the civil rights movement and exist in 
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a world that has changed little since i950. In other words, just like 
blacks throughout the nation, Kentucky blacks during the civil rights 
movement experienced both meaningful change and continuity. 

Yet, many scholars studying the civil rights movement have ulti­
mately reached a more positive conclusion about the success of the 
movement. In the early years of this century, whites killed blacks at 
will, denied them anything approaching legal redress, and took their 
property with impunity. To a very, very significant degree all of these 
horrible acts have ended. To be sure, racism is more subtle, more co­
vert. But, the fact that racism is now subtle actually means real prog­
ress has occurred. In short, the civil rights movement in Kentucky and 
elsewhere brought hope to blacks, that since they had successfully chal­
lenged Jim Crow laws, mob violence, and "legal lynchings," maybe 
other vestiges of racism could be conquered. 
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W. MARVIN DULANEY 

Whatever Happened to the Civil Rights 
Movement in Dallas, Texas? 

DURING the past six years, the city of Dallas has experienced an un­
usual amount of racial tension over the lack of African-American and 
Hispanic representation in city government and over the use of deadly 
force by police officers. Responding to the latter issue, the city's lone 
African-American county commissioner even called for armed rebel­
lions in the streets, reminiscent of the tactics that African Americans 
used in other cities during the 196os. 1 Because of the recent racial ten­
sion in Dallas, many believe the civil rights movement bypassed that 
city. Dallas Times Herald columnist Jim Schutze in his book, The Ac­
commodation, even contends that African-American leaders subverted 
the movement by allying with the Dallas Citizens' Council. In this 
alliance, they sought to manage integration and to prevent racial vio­
lence like that which occurred in Little Rock, Birmingham, and New 
Orleans when those cities began the process of desegregation. Schutze's 
thesis has some merit, but it does not tell the full story. 2 

Dallas did have a civil rights movement, and the African Ameri­
cans who participated in it from the 1930s to the 1950s were in the 
forefront of the ongoing national struggle by Americans of all races 
to end racial injustice, discrimination, and repression. 3 African Amer­
icans in Dallas made the 1930s a watershed not only for the local 
version of the civil rights movement, but also for the movement 
throughout the South. After they formed a political organization and 
an active state chapter of the NAACP, African Americans won two 
of the landmark civil rights cases in the South. But the movement in 
Dallas did not fulfill its promise. In the 1960s, African Americans in 
that city never used tactics of direct action or violence to win the more 
substantial gains of political and economic power that the movement 
brought to African Americans in cities such as Atlanta, New Orleans, 
and Birmingham. 
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Several historians who have studied race relations in Texas con­
tend that the mass demonstrations and violence that characterized the 
civil rights movement in other parts of the South did not occur in Texas 
because the state is not really a part of the Deep South. Allegedly, race 
relations were moderate in Texas. Therefore, African Americans in 
various communities throughout the state had only to work with mod­
erate white leadership to negotiate changes in segregation. According 
to this view, when African Americans began to confront white suprem­
acy in cities throughout the state, they did not have to confront the 
White Citizens Councils and Ku Klux Klan chapters that were the 
main sources of resistance to change confronting African Americans 
in the Deep South. 4 

Despite this view, however, the historical record indicates that 
African Americans in Texas confronted a racial environment as rigid 
as that in other parts of the Deep South - a system of racial violence 
and segregation that was not much different from that which they ex­
perienced during slavery. Immediately after the Civil War, white Tex­
ans used violence and terror to establish a "new relationship" between 
African Americans and whites in the state. According to the Freedmen's 
Bureau commissioners and the Committee on Violence and Lawless­
ness organized by the Texas Constitutional Convention of 1868, nearly 
two thousand African Americans were murdered between 1865 and 
1868 through random violence, vigilantism, and attempts by former 
Texas slaveholders to keep them in slavery. Of the homicide victims 
in that period, 97 percent were African-American males (1 percent of 
the African-American male population in Texas between the ages of 
fifteen and forty-nine). This high percentage indicates that white Tex­
ans aimed the brunt of their terror against the group of African Ameri­
cans best able to defend themselves and to challenge the racial status 
quo disrupted by the war. 5 

The violence against African Americans in Texas continued after 
Reconstruction and into the twentieth century. Two cases in Dallas 
serve as examples of this violence. In March, 1910, an elderly black 
man named Allen Brooks was accused of molesting a three-year-old 
white child. A mob, which grew to five thousand people, broke into 
the courthouse, tied a rope around his neck, and threw him out of 
the courthouse window. He was then dragged through the streets of 
downtown Dallas, his body mangled as he was dragged along, and 
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then he was hanged from a telephone pole. As the last breath of life 
left his body, the mob tore off pieces of his clothing, then pieces of 
the telephone pole, and finally pieces of his mangled body for sou­
venirs. No one was ever prosecuted for the crime, and both Dallas news­
papers gave editorial support to the lynching of Brooks. 6 The second 
case of violence and terror against African Americans in Dallas, while 
less gruesome, nevertheless exposes the pattern of racial intimidation 
that was part of the African-American experience in Dallas. In April, 
1921, fifteen members of the Dallas Ku Klux Klan kidnapped young 
Alexander Johnson. Johnson, a bell boy in a downtown hotel, alleg­
edly had bragged about having sexual relations with some of the white 
women guests. For his offense, the Klan whipped him and branded 
his forehead with the letters KKK. Two newspaper reporters were also 
kidnapped with Johnson and forced to watch the whipping and brand­
ing in order to report the incident to the community as a warning to 
any other African-American men who had ideas about having rela­
tionships with white women. Just as in the Brooks case, no one was 
ever prosecuted; indeed, it seems likely that some of his kidnappers 
were members of the Dallas police department because, according to 
an extant list of Klan members on the police force in 1921, every mem­
ber of the force, from the police commissioner down, was a member 
of the Ku Klux Klan. 7 Admittedly, Brooks's and Johnson's cases were 
two of the more sensational ones; nevertheless, they show how pre­
carious life was for African Americans who challenged the prevailing 
racial norms. 

There was also a general pattern of apartheid that affected all as­
pects of African-American life in Dallas. Just as in other parts of the 
South, the apartheid system in Dallas developed almost immediately 
after the Civil War and affected African Americans' access to hous­
ing, law enforcement, voting, public facilities, health care, and em­
ployment. White Democrats helped to establish apartheid in Texas by 
eliminating African-American voters from state politics. A poll tax, 
passed in 1902, and the Democrats' white primary law, passed in 1903, 
achieved this objective. These laws reduced the number of African 
Americans voting in Texas from more than one hundred thousand in 
the 1890s to fewer than five thousand by 1906. With no real political 
power to protect their rights, African Americans were at the mercy 
of white Texans. As a result, over the first three decades of this cen-
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tury, the city of Dallas systematically and deliberately circumscribed 
the social and political lives of the African-American population. In 
i907, the city of Dallas revised its charter to establish segregation of 
the races in all aspects of city life: in public schools, housing, 
amusements, and churches. The city further restricted where African 
Americans could live by adopting a charter amendment in i916 that 
provided for residential segregation. Another city charter amendment 
in i930 also restricted the access of African Americans to the political 
process because it required all candidates for city government offices 
to run at large and on a nonpartisan basis, which effectively prevented 
blacks from winning office. Under this second charter amendment, 
the city council also furthered apartheid by passing an ordinance to 
segregate the races on public transportation. 8 

Despite the establishment of an apartheid system in Dallas, the 
experience of African Americans was not one of complete victimiza­
tion. Many African Americans attempted to improve their circum­
stances by participating in local and state Republican politics. Rev. 
Alexander Stephens Jackson and attorney Ammon S. Wells were ac­
tive in Republican politics in Dallas County, and they fought the move­
ment by some white Republicans to eliminate African Americans from 
the party in order to win white votes. In the late nineteenth and early 
twentieth centuries, African Americans also petitioned the Dallas City 
Council repeatedly for better law enforcement and for a share of pub­
licly funded jobs in their neighborhoods, but their petitions were usu­
ally ignored. In addition, in i918, African Americans in Dallas formed 
a chapter of the NAACP, which was led by George F. Porter, a Dallas 
schoolteacher, and Ammon S. Wells. Porter, who was especially brave, 
was one of the first teachers in Dallas to protest against the unequal 
pay that African-American teachers earned for doing the same job as 
white teachers. In the early i92os, however, the Klan-dominated po­
lice department intimidated the Dallas NAACP virtually out of exis­
tence by mandating that a Dallas police officer be allowed to attend 
all NAACP meetings to observe activities. 9 

Apartheid in Dallas also did not prevent African Americans from 
maintaining a viable and progressive community. They established and 
maintained businesses, churches, and even a long-running newspaper. 
By the mid-192os, a small middle class emerged in the city - teachers, 
doctors, lawyers, and other professionals serving the African-Ameri-
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can population. In 1926, several of them founded the Dallas Negro 
Chamber of Commerce in an effort to promote business development 
and to improve the living standards of the city's African-American 
population. 10 

By the beginning of the 1930s, improving the living standards of 
blacks became crucial. In addition to suffering the negative economic 
effects of the depression, Dallas's African-American community was 
plagued by poor housing, unpaved streets, lackadaisical law enforce­
ment, and a general neglect of living standards by the city govern­
ment. A county judge even urged white voters to oppose a city bond 
issue because it would provide a free library for African Americans. 
This attitude of neglect extended to education as well. The lone Afri­
can-American high school, Booker T. Washington, was seriously over­
crowded, with 1,664 students attending a facility designed for a max­
imum of 600. Moreover, African Americans claimed they did not 
receive their fair share of federal government relief efforts promised 
under the New Deal. 11 

All of these problems had existed for decades, but the Great Depres­
sion exacerbated them. Thus, the 1930s became a watershed in Dallas 
because African Americans began to attack the problems of crime, poor 
and inadequate housing, and insufficient school facilities. They also 
sought to improve the city services that they received and to partici­
pate in the political process. Three significant and related events oc­
curred in the 1930s to facilitate the new approach that African Ameri­
cans took toward their political empowerment and their struggle for 
civil rights: in 1932, the Dallas Negro Chamber of Commerce hired 
A. Maceo Smith as Executive Secretary; in 1936, a cross section of 
African-American social and civic groups organized the Progressive 
Voters League (PVL); and in the same year, new members of the Dallas 
chapter of the NAACP, such as Smith and Juanita Craft, revived that 
organization and made it part of a statewide civil rights campaign. 

The Dallas Negro Chamber of Commerce hired Smith as execu­
tive secretary to rejuvenate the organization and begin a permanent 
program of economic and political activities in the African-American 
community. Smith was from Texarkana and was a 1924 graduate of 
Fisk University. He had also earned a master's degree from New York 
University in 1928. He arrived in Dallas in 1932 and began to reorga­
nize the chamber. One of his major accomplishments was to involve 
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the chamber in the Texas Centennial of 1936 and to secure funds to 
build the Hall of Negro Life at the Centennial State Fair. Smith was 
also instrumental in involving the chamber in politics. He was one of 
the founders of the PVL and served on the executive committee for 
over ten years. He left the chamber in 1939 to accept a job as racial 
relations advisor with the United States Housing Authority. That same 
year he became president of the Texas State Conference of Branches 
of the NAACP, leading the organization in undertaking two of the land­
mark civil rights cases of the 1940s and 195os. 12 

In 1936, African Americans organized the PVL, the most impor­
tant political organization founded by African Americans in Dallas 
until the 1960s. Two events led to the formation of this organization. 
The first occurred in 1934, when members of Alpha Phi Alpha fra­
ternity (a national fraternity organized in Dallas in 1932 among Afri­
can-American college graduates) held their annual Education for Citi­
zenship Week program. Participants, who included A. Maceo Smith 
as a speaker, discussed the meaning of responsible citizenship and con­
cluded that voting and participating in the political process were the 
key to responsible citizenship as well as the best way to address the 
needs of Dallas's African-American community. Acting on the enthu­
siasm generated by the fraternity's program, African Americans formed 
the Progressive Citizens League to encourage involvement in the po­
litical process and the positive use of the ballot to secure the needs of 
their community. The league held a poll tax payment campaign and 
initiated a suit in 1934 to open the Democratic primary in Dallas 
County to African-American voters. A Dallas judge dismissed the suit, 
however, and denied African Americans the right to participate in the 
Democrats' primary. 13 

In 1935, a second event encouraged the formation of a political 
organization. State Representative Sarah T. Hughes resigned to accept 
a position as county judge, and attorney Ammon S. Wells entered the 
general election to fill her seat. Wells was a former president of the 
NAACP and current president of the Progressive Citizens League. His 
candidacy for the Texas House of Representatives was a bold move for 
any African American in Texas in the 1930s, sparking controversy in 
Dallas County and statewide. Whites were annoyed because he had 
the nerve to run and because he had a good chance of winning - there 
were sixty candidates seeking the office. Wells lost, but he finished sixth 
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and polled 1,001 votes; the winner polled only 1,844 votes. More im­
portant, Well's candidacy sent a clear message to such African­
American leaders as A. Maceo Smith and Rev. Maynard H. Jackson, 
pastor of New Hope Baptist Church: if more of Dallas's ten thousand 
potential African-American voters had registered and voted, Wells 
might well have won a seat in the state legislature. This fact moti­
vated Smith and Jackson to accelerate their efforts at political orga­
nizing - efforts that culminated in the formation of the PVL in 1936. 14 

Led by Rev. Maynard H. Jackson, the PVL had immediate success 
in the political arena. Jackson, the son of Alexander Stephens Jackson, 
and the father of Maynard H. Jackson, Jr., who would serve as the 
mayor of Atlanta, became the first president of the PVL. Before he 
moved to Atlanta in 1945, he was one of Dallas's leading citizens and 
became the first African American to run for the Dallas school board. 
As a minister and member of the powerful Interdenominational Min­
isterial Alliance (IMA) (an organization that consisted of the city's most 
prominent African-American clergy), Jackson was the logical choice 
to lead the PVL and to unite all of the city's African-American civic 
and social organizations into an organized voting bloc. In April, 1937, 
this African-American voting bloc led by the PVL cast the deciding 
votes in the city council election. Its supporters were rewarded when 
the city council voted to integrate the police force in 1937 and when 
the city built a new African-American high school in 1939· The PVL 
continued to attempt to influence local elections by interviewing pros­
pective candidates for office, and by publicly endorsing a slate of can­
didates for consideration by African-American voters.15 

The success of African Americans in the political arena was 
matched by their successes in civil rights cases. Determined to attack 
apartheid from all sides, A. Maceo Smith, Juanita Craft, and Maynard 
Jackson reinvigorated the Dallas chapter of the NAACP, which had 
been virtually defunct since the early-1920s. Holding its first meeting 
in several years in 1936, the Dallas chapter identified one key area of 
concern: securing public sector employment for African Americans as 
police officers, postal workers and sanitation workers. A year later, the 
organization specified discrimination on buses and street cars as an 
additional area that its members needed to address. The Dallas NAACP 
was never strong enough to act on these issues; however, because of 
the dynamism of A. Maceo Smith, who was named state secretary of 



Whatever Happened in Dallas? 73 

the newly organized Texas State Conference of Branches of the NAACP, 
Dallas became the center of the campaigns to overturn the Democratic 
white primary, to equalize the salaries of African-American teachers 
and to integrate the University of Texas. 16 

After Smith became president of the Texas State Conference of 
Branches of the NAACP in 1939, the organization made plans to pur­
sue another case to overturn the Democrats' white primary. African 
Americans in Texas had contested the Democrats' white primary three 
times, but had lost their most recent challenge in 1935, when the United 
States Supreme Court concurred with the state's argument that the 
Democrats' primaries were private, organizational businesses and not 
state action. 17 In 1940, Smith coordinated a statewide campaign to 
raise eight thousand dollars for another legal challenge of the white 
primary. The money was never raised; instead Smith, Carter Wesley 
of the Houston Informer chain of newspapers, and attorney W. J. 
Durham of Dallas contributed most of the money when the NAACP 
next challenged the white primary. That landmark case centered on 
Houston dentist, Lonnie E. Smith, who was denied a ballot in the 
1940 Harris County Democrats' party primary and took legal action. 
The NAACP's General Counsel Thurgood Marshall, assisted by W. J. 
Durham, unsuccessfully argued the case in the United States District 
Court. The NAACP then appealed to the Supreme Court. Before the 
United States Supreme Court heard arguments in the Smith case in 
November, 1943, and January, 1944, it ruled on the case of U.S. v. 
Classic (1941) and declared that party primaries were an integral part 
of the political process, and that by holding primaries, political par­
ties carried out state action. After hearing Marshall's and Durham's 
arguments in the Smith case, the Court ruled in favor of the plain­
tiffs that race could not be used to deny participation in party pri­
maries because white-only primaries violated the Fourteenth and Fif­
teenth Amendments. 18 

While pursuing and supporting the primary case, African Ameri­
cans filed suit to equalize the salaries of African-American teachers 
with those of white teachers. To challenge the inequitable, racially 
biased salary structure in the city's public schools, African Americans 
created a new organization, the Dallas Council of Negro Organiza­
tions (DCNO). Organized in 1942, the DCNO consisted of all the ma­
jor African-American organizations in the city: the NAACP, the PVL, 
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the Negro Chamber of Commerce, the IMA, and nineteen other or­
ganizations. With the support of the DCNO, attorney W. J. Durham 
filed the case Page v. Board of Education, City of Dallas in November, 
i942. He won a judgment in the case in February, i943, which granted 
pay raises to African-American teachers over a two-year period until 
their salary level reached that of whites. 19 

With their victories in the white primary and salary equalization 
cases, African Americans undertook a third case: the desegregation 
of the University of Texas Law School. A. Maceo Smith later recalled 
that he sat on his porch with Thurgood Marshall drinking whiskey 
and discussing whom they might get to file the test case to desegregate 
the University of Texas Law School. Finding the right candidate was 
not easy. Marshall, Smith, and other NAACP leaders knew that the 
success of the case rested largely on the credentials of the student. Fi­
nally, Carter Wesley of the Informer brought Houston postal worker 
and Wiley College graduate Heman Marion Sweatt to their attention 
as the plaintiff for the case. Sweatt applied to the University of Texas 
Law School in February, i946, and his application for admission was 
rejected on the basis of race. Unlike the white primary case, Sweatt's 
case was truly a grass-roots effort by African Americans in Dallas and 
throughout the state of Texas. Smith coordinated a fundraising cam­
paign out of the Dallas NAACP office and raised enough money not 
only to support the case, but also to support Sweatt if and when he 
gained admission to the University of Texas Law School. 20 

Marshall and Durham filed the Sweatt v. Painter case requesting 
that the Texas State Board of Regents admit Sweatt to the University 
of Texas Law School because no "separate but equal" law school ex­
isted in the state for African-American students. Marshall and Dur­
ham lost the case in the local courts. While they were appealing the 
case, the Regents opened "Prairie View Law School for Negroes" in 
Houston for Sweatt to attend. Marshall and Durham proceeded with 
Sweatt's case in spite of this subterfuge. They argued that the "new 
Negro law school" was not equal to the one at the University of Texas 
and did not have the same quality of facilities, library, faculty, and 
national accreditation. The United States Supreme Court agreed with 
Marshall and Durham and, in i950, ordered the University of Texas 
to admit Sweatt as a student. 21 

The success of the NAACP in the landmark Smith and Sweatt cases 
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was matched by a number of gains that African Americans made in 
Dallas in the 1940s. In 1941, the first African Americans served as jurors 
after having been barred from jury service for over fifty years. In 1946, 
they won their first precinct chairs in the Democratic party and par­
ticipated in the Dallas County Democrats' county convention. Dur­
ing the same year, the Dallas City Council authorized the appoint­
ment of fourteen African-American police officers to patrol the city's 
black neighborhoods. Two African-American police officers went on 
duty in March, 1947- There were also minor gains such as the appoint­
ment of the first African-American postal workers at the Dallas post 
office, the participation of African Americans in defense industries, 
and the opening of Wahoo City Park for African Americans. 22 

Despite these successes, crucial problems still faced African Ameri­
cans in the city. Racial discrimination limited access of the city's grow­
ing African-American population to adequate housing. The city's seg­
regated schools also remained a problem, and the Dallas Board of 
Education even resisted the 1954 Supreme Court school desegregation 
order. Finally, public facilities remained segregated, and African Amer­
icans could not try on clothes in downtown stores. All of these prob­
lems remained in spite of the civil rights gains that Dallas's African 
Americans made in the 1940s. These problems began to fester in the 
1950s. 

Finding adequate and sufficient housing proved to be the most 
difficult problem that African Americans faced. Like most southern 
cities, Dallas was segregated residentially and no homes were built 
specifically for African Americans. Thus, there was nowhere for Afri­
can Americans to buy quality housing. Many people were mired in 
unhealthy slum conditions in the western part of the city along the 
banks of the Trinity River. In the early 1940s, a number of middle­
class African Americans, seeking to escape the poor housing conditions 
that existed in the areas designated for black residents, bought homes 
in the South Dallas area along Oakland Boulevard- a transitional area 
between a white neighborhood and a growing African-American neigh­
borhood. In 1941, whites bombed eighteen homes bought by African 
Americans in an attempt to drive them from the neighborhood. The 
Dallas police attempted to protect the homes of African Americans 
in the area but never apprehended anyone for the bombings. The city 
of Dallas tried to resolve the matter by buying out African-American 
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homeowners or convincing them to return the homes to the original 
owners. But more bombings of African-American homes in the same 
area occurred in 1950 and 195i. Due to a number of protests from 
African Americans, the police, with the assistance of the Texas Rangers, 
finally arrested ten suspects; but none of them were ever convicted. 
The city of Dallas finally acted to build several segregated, public­
housing projects for African Americans and an all-black housing sub­
division to resolve the crisis that African Americans faced because of 
t,he city's policy of residential segregation. Residential segregation thus 
continued in Dallas unresolved. 23 

African Americans also faced continuation of segregated schools 
with the inherent inequities in facilities and resources that segregation 
perpetuated. Aided by the 1954 Supreme Court decision, however, 
African Americans sought to force the school board to desegregate the 
city's public school system in 1955. Twenty-eight African-American 
students attempted to attend white schools in 1955 and were turned 
away. The Dallas NAACP filed a suit against the board, but the case 
was continued repeatedly to delay desegregation of the school system. 24 

The Dallas NAACP's case against the school board was one of the 
cases that precipitated action by white Texans to resist the Supreme 
Court's school desegregation mandate. All across the South, whites 
formed White Citizens Councils to resist desegregation and to use "mas­
sive resistance" against the NAACP's school desegregation lawsuits. In 
1955 whites in Dallas formed a local version of the White Citizens 
Council and called it the Texas Citizens Council of Dallas. The Texas 
Citizens Council vowed "to fight to the end to maintain segregation 
in Texas schools." But the brunt of the resistance and the attack on 
the NAACP was led by Texas state attorney general John Ben Shep­
pard. 25 In September, 1956, Sheppard began the state's campaign to 
outlaw the NAACP, intimidate its leaders, and drive it out of business 
in Texas. In retaliation for the NAACP's school desegregation suits, he 
obtained an injunction against the NAACP's activities in Texas, sub­
poenaed such members of the Texas State Conference of Branches of 
the NAACP as A. Maceo Smith, and confiscated branch office records 
throughout the state. His actions had the effect of suspending the opera­
tion of the NAACP in Texas for eight months (from September, 1956, 
to May, 1957). He charged the organization with barratry and failing 



Whatever Happened in Dallas? 77 

to file the appropriate documents to do business as a corporation in 
the state of Texas. 26 

The attorney general's actions had a devastating effect on the Dallas 
NAACP. Although the NAACP's lawyers won their case against the 
state's charges, the harassment virtually destroyed the organization, 
and it took the NAACP more than three years to recover. Once A. Maceo 
Smith's superiors at the Dallas Federal Housing Authority learned that 
he was a party in the state's case against the NAACP, he was forced 
to resign as state executive secretary and to cut ties with the local 
branch. He also resigned from the NAACP's national board. The na­
tional office of the NAACP tried several times to revitalize the orga­
nization by sending in a regional officer to hold state meetings and 
to plan strategy for the school desegregation cases. Eventually, national 
executive director Roy Wilkins came to Texas to reestablish local chap­
ters and to increase branch membership. But the NAACP in Dallas 
still languished for two years until Minnie Flanagan became president 
in 1959 and involved the organization in the Dallas sit-in movement. 27 

Despite its problems, the NAACP continued to pursue the school 
desegregation case in Dallas. NAACP lawyers had to overcome six years 
of appeals and delaying tactics by the school board to resist integra­
tion. The school board was aided in its resistance by a new state law 
requiring Texas school districts to hold "integration votes" to deter­
mine if local residents favored school integration. According to the state 
law, if Texas school districts did not hold the referendums, they would 
lose state funding for education. The Dallas school board held such 
a referendum on the issue in August, 1960, and voters rejected school 
"integration" by a four-to-one margin (30,324 to 7,416 votes). Never­
theless, the NAACP continued to press the issue of school desegrega­
tion and used its victory in the United States Fifth Circuit Court of 
Appeals to force the school board to develop a desegregation plan. In 
1961, the school board adopted a plan in which schools desegregated 
one grade a year, starting with the first grade, until all twelve grade 
levels were desegregated. Eighteen African-American students enrolled 
in previously all-white elementary schools in August, 196i. This "de­
segregation" occurred in Dallas without the massive demonstrations 
and confrontations that had characterized the process in Little Rock, 
Arkansas, and New Orleans, Louisiana. 28 It also foreshadowed how 
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African-American and white leadership would handle the process of 
desegregating public life in Dallas. 

The Dallas Citizens Council, a powerful group of white business 
leaders, handled the school desegregation process in the city as it had 
other issues that had confronted the city for thirty years. Formed in 
1937 by some of the city's most prominent bankers and business lead­
ers, the Citizens Council ruled the city through its surrogate political 
arm, the Citizens Charter Association (CCA). The Citizens Council 
sought to provide the city nonpartisan, "good government" and to run 
the city efficiently for the good of all citizens. The Citizens Council 
attempted to rule by consensus rather than confrontation, and to solve 
problems, such as the ongoing shortage of housing for African Ameri­
cans, by negotiation and private sector involvement rather than gov­
ernment intervention. From its inception, the Citizens Council was 
successful in negotiating with African-American leadership to achieve 
minor racial changes (for example, the public housing projects built 
for African Americans in 1957). African-American leaders responded 
to the token consideration provided by the Citizens Council by sup­
porting CCA-backed candidates in every city government election from 
1939 to 1959, except for two elections. The issue of integration, how­
ever, presented the Citizens Council and African-American leader­
ship with a problem that challenged the city's political culture of 
consensus. 29 

The Citizens Council began to address the problem of desegrega­
tion even before the court's decision in the school desegregation case. 
In March, 1960, NAACP national executive director Roy Wilkins visited 
Dallas for a regional meeting. His visit occurred just after students 
in other parts of the South had begun the sit-in movement the previ­
ous month. The NAACP had gone on record as supporting the sit-in 
movement and thus members of the Citizens Council believed that 
Wilkins was coming to Dallas to organize sit-ins in the city's segre­
gated downtown stores, under the auspices of the NAACP. They re­
quested a meeting with Wilkins and other leaders of the NAACP in 
an effort to forestall possible confrontations. Wilkins told an interracial 
group of city leaders that they needed to begin desegregating the city 
immediately if they wanted to avoid the confrontations occurring in 
other parts of the South. 

Later in March, acting on Wilkins's suggestion, seven African 
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Americans and seven whites formed the Committee of 14 to negotiate 
and manage desegregation in Dallas. The whites were members of the 
Citizens Council and included financier Karl Hoblitzelle (one of the 
original members of the Citizens Council), bankers James W. Aston, 
Jr., and W. W. Overton, Dallas Power and Light president C. A. Tatum, 
insurance executive Carr P. Collins, wholesale liquor distributor Julius 
Schepps, and industrialist John E. Mitchell. The African Americans 
were A. Maceo Smith, NAACP attorney W. J. Durham, C. Jack Clark 
of Black & Clark Funeral Home, tire company executive Ed Reed, 
businessman Henry Lenoir, Rev. B. E. Joshua, and businessman George 
Allen. The "Committee of 14" was supported in its work by the Dallas 
Community Committee (DCC), headed by Rev. E. C. Estell, pastor 
of St. John's Baptist Church. Organized in August, 1960, the interracial 
DCC consisted of members of the NAACP, the IMA, and other church 
and civic groups in the city. The DCC's charge was to carry out the 
activities for improving race relations and desegregating public life 
that resulted from the negotiations of the Committee of 14. A. Maceo 
Smith made regular reports about the Committee of 14's negotiations 
and decisions to Rev. Estell, who then directed the DCC in implement­
ing and supporting desegregation activities. 30 

Sponsored by the Citizens Council, the Committee of 14 held its 
first meeting on March 24, 1960, and A. Maceo Smith addressed the 
group and outlined work that the committee had to do. Smith said 
that the committee had to open lines of communication among all ra­
cial and ethnic groups in the city. The six objectives Smith identified 
for the Committee to consider were, in his words: 

1. Provide unsegregated food service in retail stores. 
2. Provide unsegregated accommodations in public facilities. 
3. Facilitate wider employment opportunities for Negroes in all City 

departments. 
4 . Remove racial designations signs from all public buildings. 
5. Establish a policy of non-segregation in seating accommodations at 

sporting events and in other public places. 
6. Open accommodations in hotels and hostelries. 31 

But not all African Americans or whites were willing to let the 
Committee of 14 set the agenda. While the committee was planning 
its program of managed desegregation, Dallas had its first sit-in on 
April 30, when two ministers, Rev. T. D. R. Thompson, African Ameri-
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can, and Rev. Aston Jones, white, entered the S. H. Kress and H. L. 
Green stores in downtown and were served without incident. Caught 
off guard, the employees of both stores apparently served the two min­
isters to avoid a confrontation. But after this episode both stores con­
tinued their policy of racial segregation and refused to serve African 
Americans at their lunch counters. As the Committee of 14 continued 
its measured negotiations, some members of the DCC grew impatient 
and organized to picket downtown stores that would not serve Afri­
can Americans, especially the H. L. Green and S. H. Kress stores. In 
October, 1960, Rev. Rhett James, pastor of New Hope Baptist Church, 
led the first organized picketing of downtown stores. James involved 
a cross section of the African-American community in maintaining the 
picket lines. Each day of the week, a different group was assigned to 
maintain the picket line: lawyers one day, ministers the next day, busi­
ness and professional people the next, and beauticians on another day. 32 

The pickets lasted only two months, but the action split the ranks 
of the DCC. Rev. Estell, chairman of the DCC, indicated his disagree­
ment with picketing lunch counters in a speech in November, 1960; 
he criticized the picketers and called them ignorant. This fractured 
his relationship with James, who attacked Estell publicly in an editorial 
in the Express. Responding to Estell's charge that the picketers were 
ignorant, James pointed out that all segments of the African-American 
community and even some white civic leaders were participating in 
the pickets. He charged Estell with duplicity because he had chaired 
the meeting in which members of the DCC had agreed to use direct­
action tactics to desegregate downtown stores. Nevertheless, in Decem­
ber, 1960, the pickets were called off and James resigned from the DCC 
in protest. The DCC was following Estell's recommendation (and that 
of African-American members of the "Committee of 14") to end direct­
action tactics and continue negotiations at the bargaining table. James's 
disagreement with the decision revealed the division over tactics among 
African Americans. 33 

After resigning from the DCC, Rhett James tried to force the DCC 
to pressure the "Committee of 14" to implement desegregation in the 
city's public accommodations. He sent the DCC a telegram on Janu­
ary 1, 1961, with the ultimatum that downtown lunch counters be 
desegregated by January 14, or he would begin immediate direct-action 
tactics. The DCC failed to respond, and James, several other African 
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Americans, and more than sixty Southern Methodist University students 
began a sit-in campaign in downtown stores and at lunch counters 
on Hillcrest Avenue near the university. The DCC continued its in­
action and some of its members became disgruntled and threatened 
a boycott of downtown stores during Easter. The Easter boycott did 
not materialize, but in a full-page ad in the May 27, 1961, Express, 
more than three hundred African-American women pledged not to 
shop in downtown stores until they were accorded the same treatment 
as other American citizens. They urged all other African-American 
women to observe the same pledge and to encourage their friends to 
abide by it. 34 

Negotiations between African-American and white members of 
the Committee of 14 clearly had stalled after some initial desegrega­
tion agreements. But the threatened boycott broke the stalemate. Just 
ten days after the Express ad, A. Maceo Smith reported that the com­
mittee had made some progress toward desegregation. He reported that 
three of the major downtown stores had begun to serve African Ameri­
cans at their lunch counters. He also reported that the police depart­
ment had agreed to hire twenty more African Americans as police offi­
cers, place them in uniform, assign them to work in all parts of the 
city, and allow them the use of two patrol cars. Finally, he reported 
that the committee had secured employment for African Americans 
in several stores and private companies and had increased the number 
of African Americans employed by the city. 35 

The Committee of 14 announced its biggest achievement in July, 
1961. On July 26, 1961, business establishments in downtown Dallas 
would remove their discriminating signs, symbols, and practices and 
extend service to all customers, regardless of race. To dramatize this 
achievement, the committee arranged for 159 African Americans to 
walk into 49 downtown lunch counters and restaurants and be served 
without incident. This action prompted the DCC to call off its boy­
cott. 36 

The Committee of 14 extended its managed desegregation plan 
to the city's schools. To prepare citizens for school desegregation, the 
committee produced a film entitled "Dallas at the Crossroads." Nar­
rated by then CBS News anchor Walter Cronkite, and featuring some 
of Dallas's leading African-American and white citizens, the film 
stressed the importance of observing the law in order to avoid the ra-
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cial chaos that had occurred in cities such as Little Rock and New Or­
leans during school desegregation. The Committee of 14 circulated the 
film to African-American and white church groups, civic organiza­
tions, labor organizations, and showed it on a local television station. 
The committee also distributed a small booklet to accompany the film 
to more than one hundred thousand Dallas citizens. School desegrega­
tion took place in the fall of 1961 with few complications or incidents. 37 

On the surface, desegregation took place smoothly and with a 
minimum of racial strife. The managed desegregation plan led by the 
Committee of 14 appeared to be so successful that state and national 
leaders lauded the plan, and representatives from other cities came 
to Dallas to study it. Texas senator John Tower even praised the plan 
on the floor of the United States Senate. By the time the federal gov­
ernment passed the Civil Rights Act of 1964 mandating the end of dis­
crimination in public accommodations, Dallas leaders were patting 
themselves on the back for having "solved" the problem in advance 
of federal action. 38 

In reality, however, the city's desegregation actions were still token­
ism. Smith's 1961 report to the DCC also contained evidence of the 
persistence of segregation and the inability of the committee to force 
compliance by several downtown stores and public facilities. For exam­
ple, H. L. Green, S. S. Kresge, and the Union Terminal lunch coun­
ters continued to refuse service to African Americans. Bus stations, 
Parkland Hospital, and the Texas State Fair continued their policies 
of racial discrimination. The tokenism in the managed integration plan 
was most evident in the slow pace of school desegregation. In viola­
tion of the law and the 1961 Court of Appeals decision, the school board 
began construction of another all-black high school in 1962. Moreover, 
even in the mid-196os, African-American schoolteachers still faced in­
timidation or dismissal for participating in NAACP activities. 39 The 
Committee of 14 worked to resolve these problems, and except for the 
continuation of school and housing segregation, eventually resolved 
most of them. But the continued existence of segregation and discrimi­
nation and the committee's policy of discouraging dissent and direct­
action tactics eventually led some African Americans to challenge the 
city's established political culture of negotiating change. They would 
also legitimately charge that desegregation was taking place "on white 
terms" with the city's power structure maintaining control of the situa-
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tion. Thus, dissenters such as Rhett James were able to challenge the 
Committee of 14's strategy and eventually mobilize some factions of 
the African-American community against the token desegregation 
policy. 40 

Rev. Rhett James was elected president of the Dallas NAACP in 
1962 and became the most outspoken critic of the managed desegrega­
tion plan. He questioned the loyalty of the African-American members 
of the Committee of 14 to the African-American community. He stated 
unequivocally that the African-American members on the committee 
could not serve two masters: that is, he felt that they could not do the 
bidding of whites on the committee and still call themselves leaders 
in the African-American community. He also believed that African 
Americans had to win their own freedom. In his column in the Ex­
press, June 16, 1962, he stated: "When are we going to learn the facts 
of life: that we can't be Negro leaders without totally identifying with 
Negro causes, and remain loyal to these causes. We fool no one but 
ourselves if we think the Dallas School Board is going to do the right 
thing on their own. What has been done and what will be done comes 
from direct appeals, court actions and direct action from Negro move­
ments, with all involved in them dedicated to the cause of eradicating 
barriers which separate some and render them inferior."41 

Rhett James's words proved prophetic because, in spite of the Com­
mittee of 14's attempt to negotiate and manage desegregation in the 
city, more direct-action demonstrations occurred. In 1963, the NAACP 
began a selective buying campaign against the Skillern Drug stores 
in South Dallas because the stores would not employ African Ameri­
cans, even though African Americans made up go percent of the 
customers. In 1964, African Americans and whites opposed to the slow 
pace of managed desegregation picketed and demonstrated at the 
downtown Piccadilly Cafeteria for twenty-eight consecutive days and 
forced the cafeteria to sign an agreement to serve all customers with­
out regard to race. During the same year, a new organization, the 
Dallas Coordinating Committee on Civil Rights (DCCR), composed 
of members of the NAACP, SCLC, and the SNCC, picketed the Dal­
las school board administration building to force the school board to 
"broaden and accelerate school desegregation in Dallas." The biggest 
demonstration, however, occurred in March, 1965, when an estimated 
three thousand people marched and rallied in downtown to protest 
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the killing of Rev. James Reeb in Selma, Alabama, and to support the 
passage of the national voting rights act. 42 

These direct-action demonstrations represented the emergence of 
younger, more defiant civil rights leadership in Dallas. Joining Rhett 
James in advocating the use of direct action was Rev. Earl E. Allen, 
pastor of Highland Hills Methodist Church and a leader of CORE. 
Rev. Allen led the pickets at the Piccadilly Cafeteria and at the school 
board in 1964. After leading these successful demonstrations, in Au­
gust, he challenged the city council to enforce the Civil Rights Act 
of 1964 or face the possibility of racial unrest and violence. He also 
stated that if the city attempted to treat civil rights demonstrations 
as "criminal acts" as advocated by the Dallas Crime Commission, 
"blood would flow in the streets." Allen was joined in his protest of 
token integration in Dallas by Dudley Powell, a medical doctor and 
organizer of the Full Citizenship Committee. Powell's committee chal­
lenged the token school desegregation plan in operation and produced 
evidence that less than 160 African-American students had attended 
integrated schools in the first three years of the plan's operation. Over­
all, Powell, Allen, and other dissidents in CORE and SCLC believed 
that Dallas would never desegregate until African Americans used 
direct-action demonstrations and filed lawsuits to force change. 43 

African Americans working with the Committee of 14 continued 
to advocate negotiations at the bargaining table and to condemn and 
resist the direct-action tactics advocated by James, Powell, and Allen. 
Moreover, their success in achieving racial change through negotia­
tion supported their position. In June, 1963, for example, the African­
American members of the Committee of 14 announced another achieve­
ment: all swimming pools and parks in Dallas would be desegregated. 
One month later, they reported that all of the city's theaters would 
be open to all citizens. Upon making these announcements, commit­
tee president Rev. E. C. Estell, who had replaced original committee 
member Henry Lenoir, commended the African-American commu­
nity for its self-discipline and patience during the desegregation pro­
cess. 44 One year later, Rev. Estell also took the offensive against 
dissidents in CORE and SCLC who disagreed with the managed de­
segregation plan. Shortly after Allen's statement that the failure of the 
Dallas city council to enforce the Civil Rights Act of 1964 would cause 
racial unrest and violence, Rev. Estell responded by condemning direct-
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action tactics and calling for a moratorium on picketing in Dallas. 
Estell said that direct action had reached a point of "diminishing re­
turns" and public opinion had turned against civil rights demonstra­
tions. He called for law and order and for more sessions at the con­
ference table in order to achieve civil rights for African Americans in 
Dallas. 45 

This division among African-American leadership split the civil 
rights movement in the city. The older, established leadership, repr~­
sented by Smith, Estell, the ministers in the IMA, and African­
American members of the Committee of i4, continued to advocate 
negotiation and gradual change. They had worked with members of 
the Citizens Council for years and realized some benefits for the 
African-American community and themselves by going along with the 
established way of doing things in the city's political culture. Mem­
bers of CORE, SNCC, and some members of the NAACP accepted 
and advocated direct-action tactics, Black Nationalism, and other ac­
tivist positions on black liberation that emerged among African Ameri­
cans during the latter phase of the civil rights movement. Moreover, 
many of the activist group questioned the goodwill of the white leader­
ship represented by the Citizens Council. After the assassination of 
Pres. John F. Kennedy, they joined with the national media in por­
traying Dallas as a "city of hate," where racial prejudice and discrimi­
nation against African Americans served as obvious examples of the 
failure of white leadership. 4e 

After i964, the split in African-American leadership over tactics 
widened. The established leadership continued to negotiate and work 
with white leadership for racial change and to achieve gains for Afri­
can Americans. For their efforts, they received concessions from white 
leadership in the form of the first appointments of African-Americans 
to city boards and commissions. In i967, they formed the Dallas Ur­
ban League with white business leaders, and this organization became 
one of the most important sources for many African Americans to find 
employment. In the same year, C. A. Galloway became the first Afri­
can American to serve on the Dallas city council when he was appointed 
to serve out the unexpired term of a white councilman who had re­
signed. In the i969 city council election, the Citizens' Charter Asso­
ciation endorsed its first African-American candidate, Committee of 
14 member George Allen. 47 
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Despite the successes of the established leadership in gaining these 
concessions, members of SCLC and CORE continued to challenge 
them over segregation that remained in the city. In June, i965, for ex­
ample, when A. Maceo Smith presented Dallas school superintendent 
W. T. White a plaque for his support of the United Negro College 
Fund's annual fundraising campaign, CORE chairman Stanley Gaines 
criticized Smith for honoring a man who "overtly and covertly had 
done everything in his power to block total integration of the Dallas 
public schools." To Gaines, Smith seemed to be rewarding White for 
his resistance to school desegregation and to be conveying to him the 
message that the African-American community had forgiven him for 
his intractability over integration. 48 One year later, Rev. Carroll Brown 
of SCLC took issue with Rev. B. L. McCormick, one of the established 
leaders, over his statement that Dallas did not need an ordinance pro­
hibiting discrimination because no such problem existed in the city. 
Brown stated that such a claim was incorrect and that the Committee 
of 14 had not solved the city's racial problems; it had only succeeded 
in appeasing the African-American community. In addition to criticiz­
ing the established leadership for aiding the enemies of African Ameri­
cans in Dallas, members of CORE also requested that the federal gov­
ernment suspend federal funds until the Dallas school board provided 
African-American children an equal education. Along with SCLC, 
CORE also continued to picket several downtown stores to force them 
to desegregate. 49 

For a brief period, the Dallas Chapter of SNCC presented the 
most formidable challenge to the policy of negotiating racial change 
in the city. In ig68, members of SNCC began a campaign to buy out 
white businesses in South Dallas. This campaign was an example of 
the emerging Black Nationalist philosophy of SNCC on the national 
level to empower African Americans to control their communities eco­
nomically and politically. It also represented SNCC's commitment to 
mass organizing as a method of achieving racial change. 50 The first 
target of SNCC's campaign was the OK supermarket chain. When the 
owner refused to sell to a SNCC-sponsored group, SNCC organized 
a boycott of the chain and supported the boycott with daily picketing. 
The picketing led to an alleged "bottle-smashing raid" at one of the 
stores, and the police arrested two members of SNCC for destroying 
property. In a subsequent trial, the Dallas County prosecutor portrayed 
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the members of SNCC as violent, black "revolutionists." A jury con­
victed both men on a charge of destroying property and sentenced them 
to ten years in jail. Several members of the African-American com­
munity testified on behalf of the two SNCC members in an attempt 
to refute the charge that they were violent "revolutionists." But none 
of the established leadership came to their defense. It also appeared 
that city officials had embarked on a campaign to disrupt SNCC's ac­
tivities in Dallas. Subsequently, other members were accused of crimes, 
including one who was framed for an armed bank robbery. Fearing 
similar reprisals, one member of SNCC hijacked a plane to Cuba. Un­
der these pressures, the Dallas chapter of SNCC disappeared from the 
city. 51 

The experience of SNCC was symbolic of how the civil rights move­
ment in Dallas remained fractured. The established African-American 
leadership continued to negotiate change and to discourage mass ac­
tion and demonstrations. The activists and the agitators in Dallas re­
mained on the fringes and could not produce results nor overcome the 
criticism they received from the established leadership. For example, 
in i969, when Peter Johnson of SCLC sought to organize a boycott 
of downtown restaurants and stores to protest the continuing existence 
of poor housing for African Americans in the Fair Park area of South 
Dallas, he was immediately castigated by city councilman and Com­
mittee of 14 veteran George Allen. Reminiscent of Rev. Estell's posi­
tion five years earlier, Allen took issue with Johnson's methods as well 
as his lack of ties to the city: "I look with disfavor on an outsider com­
ing in here who pays no taxes and who has no roots here - organizing 
a boycott. This is our town, we have our roots and stakes down here, 
we're concerned about what happens here. If you have lived here five 
years ago, you can see vast improvement throughout the city. Sure there 
are some inequities, but we need to work at this through black leader­
ship that has been working a long time and is really getting things 
done."52 Allen's criticism of the boycott and Johnson's lack of roots in 
the city did not stop Johnson from continuing the boycott and giving 
the city thirty days to respond. It became the first in a series of dem­
onstrations that Johnson would lead to challenge A. Maceo Smith and 
Allen to recognize the legitimacy of direct-action protests. 53 

The two factions represented by Allen and Johnson in the city's 
ongoing civil rights movement did not come together until a crisis made 
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cooperation necessary. In i972, the Dallas police shot and killed nine 
African-American men and wounded eleven others in the course of 
several months. In addition, the Dallas police appeared to have em­
barked on a reign of terror in the city's African-American communi­
ties, which caused several African-American activists to criticize the 
police and threaten violent retaliation. To protest police violence, 
SCLC, under the leadership of Johnson, sponsored a march of one thou­
sand people to city hall in October, i972, and then held a series of 
demonstrations which included a school walkout, a boycott of a shop­
ping center, and the takeover of the city council chambers and city 
manager's office. A coalition of community leaders and groups, which 
included such diverse groups as the IMA, the Urban League, the Na­
tion of Islam, and Dallas Legal Services, formed to present the African­
American community's grievances to the city council and to call for 
action to stop police violence. Leading the coalition was A. Maceo 
Smith, and it was the first time that the established leadership worked 
with "black activist" groups such as SCLC to address a problem con­
fronting African Americans in Dallas. 54 

Speaking for the coalition, Smith addressed the City Council on 
November 20, i972. In his speech he cited his long history of commu­
nity service and warned the council of the potential of violence if it 
did not address the police problem. Smith stated that he represented 
twenty-eight African-American organizations from all ranges of the 
political spectrum. He presented eleven demands of the coalition, which 
included the establishment of a community relations commission to 
investigate complaints against the police, the hiring of more African­
American police officers, the appointment of an African-American 
deputy police chief, and the assignment of African-American police 
officers to the African-American community. 55 

Smith's appearance before the council produced results. Since he 
represented the established leadership that had worked with the city's 
white leadership for over thirty years, the council was more than will­
ing to respond to his demands for action to forestall potential violence. 
Moreover, the demonstrations organized by SCLC provided him a bet­
ter bargaining position. At the request of the city council, the chief 
of police called upon Smith and other members of the coalition to assist 
in improving the relationship between the police and African Ameri­
cans. The chief of police also developed a strategy to recruit more 
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African-American police officers and to address the demands cited by 
Smith and the coalition in Smith's speech to the council. Acting on 
the coalition's demands, the police department appointed its first 
African-American deputy police chief in 1973· The key development, 
however, was that Smith, and other African Americans and organiza­
tions representing the established leadership, finally joined with those 
who advocated direct-action tactics to use both negotiations and di­
rect action to achieve social and political change for African Ameri­
cans in Dallas. 56 

The coalition led by Smith was short-lived. In fact, Smith's speech 
before the city council in November, 1972, was one of his last major 
acts as a leader of African Americans in Dallas. He died in 1977-57 After 
the 1972 coalition, African-American activists such as Peter Johnson 
and Al Lipscomb moved to the forefront of the city's African-American 
leadership. They proceeded to use the methods and tactics that Afri­
can Americans in other parts of the South had used to win their politi­
cal and economic rights. They demonstrated, filed lawsuits, and used 
other confrontational methods in an effort to win the political and 
economic gains that African Americans in cities such as Atlanta and 
Birmingham had already obtained. They also attempted to overcome 
the politics of "accommodation" that had dominated the civil rights 
movement in Dallas in the 1960s. 5s 

The ascendancy of activists after 1972 was a clear ~ndication of 
the limits of negotiation to achieve racial change. The continuation 
of racial segregation in education and in housing were additional ex­
amples of the limited success of the civil rights movement in Dallas. 
The current conflict over the access of African Americans and His­
panics to political and economic power in the city is another sign of 
the failure of negotiated racial change. Nevertheless, Smith, Estell, and 
their generation of African-American leadership played what they 
thought was their best hand. They had worked with members of the 
Citizens Council for over twenty years and knew how white leader­
ship in the city "got things done." As a result, they bypassed the mass 
organizing and direct-action tactics used by African Americans in other 
southern cities to achieve racial change. The mass organizing in other 
cities not only broke down the barriers of racial segregation, but also 
mobilized African Americans at the grass-roots level to participate in 
the political process. The decision by African-American leadership to 
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negotiate racial change prevented this phenomenon from occurring 
in Dallas. As a result, a legacy of apathy now exists among the city's 
African-American population, and it has forestalled mobilizing them 
even for causes and issues which directly affect them. 
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